Comparing Instructors' Motivational Support across Online and In-Person STEM Learning Environments

Qiyuan Zheng

Department of Educational and Counselling Psychology

McGill University, Montreal

August 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of Arts in Educational Psychology

© Qiyuan Zheng, 2022

Table of Contentsii
List of Tablesiv
Abstractv
Abrégévi
Acknowledgements
Contribution of Authorsix
Introduction1
Literature Review
What is Instructor's Motivational Support: Theoretical Frameworks
Expectancy-Value Theory4
Self-Determination Theory7
Instructors' Enthusiasm in Motivational Support8
Academic Motivation in Online and In-person Classroom Setting10
How To Capture Instructor's Motivational Support: Coding Schemes13
Present Study
Method
Sample and Setting17
Procedure
Video Segment Selection19
Training and Trial Coding19
Qualitative Data Collection through Coding20
Coding for Relevance
Coding for Autonomy Support
Coding for Enthusiasm

Table of Contents

Building Dataset and Quantitative Data Analyses	22
Analytic Plan	23
Results	24
Preliminary Analyses	24
Quantitative Analyses: Comparing 2019 and 2020	27
Discussion	30
Different Learning Environments, Different Motivationally Supportive Strategies?	31
Similar Motivationally Supportive Patterns Detected in 2019 and 2020	35
Potential Limitations, Innovations, and Future Directions	39
Conclusion	42
References	44
Appendix A: Tables	68
Appendix B: Coding Schemes	75

List of Tables

Table 1 Video Topics and Corresponding Video Segments across Two Years	68
Table 2 Descriptive Statistics for Counting System (Relevance and Enthusiasm)	71
Table 3 Preliminary Descriptive Statistics for Rating System (Autonomy)	72
Table 4 Summaries of Every Percentages of Relevance Statement Strategies	73
Table 5 Descriptive Statistics for Repeated-Measures MANOVA	74

Abstract

Instructors' motivationally supportive teaching plays an essential role in supporting students' motivation in both online and in-person learning environments. Due to the global pandemic, universities experienced an emergency switch from in-person teaching to remote online education, which likely prompted changes in instructors' motivationally supportive behaviors and statements. Grounded in expectancy-value theory (Eccles & Wigfield, 2020) and selfdetermination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2020), the present study investigated how instructors supported students' motivation through relevance statements, supporting autonomy, and showing their enthusiasm in the classroom settings in both pre-pandemic in-person and pandemic online STEM learning environments. Findings from 107 10-minute lecture recording segments in 2019 and 66 10-minute video segments in 2020 demonstrated instructors' in-class motivational support differed across the two learning conditions. Instructors provided more relevance statements and enthusiasm in pandemic online learning environments. Conversely, instructors appeared to offer more autonomy support in prepandemic in-person STEM classes. These findings expand our understanding of how instructors supported students' in-class motivation and whether instructors' motivational support might change across in-person and online STEM learning environments in university-level STEM courses.

Keywords: Motivational support, STEM education, in-person learning environments, online learning environments

Abrégé

L'enseignement motivant des instructeurs joue un rôle primordial pour la motivation des étudiants dans les milieux d'apprentissage en ligne et en présentiel. En raison de la pandémie mondiale, les universités ont dû passer d'urgence d'un enseignement en présentiel à un enseignement en ligne à distance, ce qui apporte éventuellement des changements aux comportements et aux énoncés motivants des instructeurs. Basée sur la théorie de l'espérancevaleur (Eccles & Wigfield, 2020) et la théorie de l'autodétermination (Ryan & Deci, 2020), la présente étude consiste à examiner comment les instructeurs motivent les étudiants en faisant des énoncés pertinents, en favorisant l'autonomie et en faisant preuve d'enthousiasme dans les milieux d'apprentissage STEM en présentiel avant la pandémie et en ligne pendant la pandémie. Selon les résultats tirés de 107 segments audio de cours de 10 minutes enregistrés en 2019 et de 66 segments vidéo de 10 minutes enregistrés en 2020, le soutien motivationnel en classe des instructeurs diffère dans les deux milieux d'apprentissage susmentionnés. Les instructeurs fournissent plus d'énoncés pertinents et font preuve de plus d'enthousiasme dans le milieu d'apprentissage en ligne pendant la pandémie. Au contraire, ils semblent favoriser davantage l'autonomie dans les cours STEM en présentiel avant la pandémie. Ces résultats nous permettent de mieux comprendre comment les instructeurs motivent les étudiants en classe et si le soutien motivationnel des instructeurs peut changer entre les milieux d'apprentissage STEM en présentiel et en ligne dans les cours universitaires STEM.

Mots-clés: Support motivationnel, enseignement STEM, milieu d'apprentissage en présentiel, milieu d'apprentissage en ligne

Acknowledgements

As a developing motivation researcher, the first thing that I would like to mention here is that I feel highly and intrinsically motivated during the process of conducting the whole project. Writing a thesis is not always an easy thing, but it is much harder for a future scholar to accomplish a thesis with great pleasure, enjoyment, as well as stupendous yearning to continuously discover the mystery of motivational support. And I do feel so lucky that I did it during the discovery path.

First and always, I would like to express my sincere love and gratitude to my family members. My wonderful mom and dad, thank you for giving me the opportunity to pursue my academic dream at McGill University in Montreal, which is thousands of miles away from home. Xinkai, my best friend from childhood, another me in the world, and true love forever, I cannot even find a word to describe my gratitude for your long-lasting love, attentive care, and unconditional trust. Thank you for all your contributions to our family and letting me to be who I am under your loving arms. Cross my fingers, you will be the father of our children and my husband in the near future.

To my supervisor and all lab members in MILES Lab, I immensely appreciate Dr. Kristy Robinson, who served as my supervisor and lab leader for more than two years. Thank you for all your hard work in cultivating me to become an excellent graduate student and qualified research assistant, as well as a lab project leader. This thesis would not be like this without your help and guidance. Besides, I also would like to express my appreciation to my lovely and supportive lab members in MILES Lab, So Yeon Lee, Sanheeta Potola, Ella Christiaans, and Cole Johnson. I really appreciate the feedback and assistance that you provided throughout the process.

Last but not least, I am grateful for all the instructors that I met at McGill University and my friends both in Canada and in my hometown. Even though challenges and uncertainty do happen sometimes, with all the power from love, I believe I can always be happy,

optimistic, confident, and powerful enough to confront and to fight.

Contribution of Authors

The thesis contains six parts, including the introduction, literature review, present study, results, discussion, and conclusion. I independently wrote all six parts of this thesis. As my supervisor, Dr. Kristy Robinson offered me suggestions and guidance during the planning, writing, and revising process. In the introduction, literature review, and present study session, I individually conceived the thesis ideas, collected the relevant articles, summarized the previous findings, and developed the research questions and hypotheses. Dr. Kristy Robinson, who served as the principal investigator, gathered all the lecture video recordings from chemistry instructors with approval ethics. The coding scheme selection was based on two conference presentation projects, and I was the co-first author with my lab mate Sanheeta Potola in both projects. In the process of trial coding, I invited two graduate lab members, Sanheeta Potola and Ella Christiaans, to code six 10-minute video segments to ensure inter-rater reliabilities. I coded all the remaining lecture video recordings used in the analysis process, created my dataset, and conducted both quantitative and qualitative analyses.

Citation

- Potola, S., Zheng, Q., Lee, S. Y., Friedman, S., Christiaans, E., Rudakova, K., Deshpande,
 H., Horrocks, P., Choi, S. J., & Robinson, K. A. (August, 2021). *An Empirical Comparison of Methods for Observing Motivationally Supportive STEM Teaching Practices*. Poster presented at the biennial meeting of the European Association for Research on Learning and Instruction (EARLI).
- Zheng, Q., Potola, S., Lee, S. Y., Deshpande, H., Christiaans, E., Friedman, S., Rudakova,
 K., Horrocks, P., Choi, S. J., & Robinson, K. A. (June, 2021). *A critical investigation of observational protocols for motivationally supportive instruction*. Poster presented at the annual convention of the Canadian Psychological Association (CPA).

Introduction

Science, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) education has been increasingly recognized as fundamental to national economic growth, innovation, and educational development (Freeman et al., 2019; Marginson et al., 2013). However, it is a persistent problem in Canada and North America that students tend to lose their interest in STEM fields (Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016; Wall, 2019; Wigfield et al., 2015). Given the findings that students' motivation declines throughout primary, secondary (Fredricks & Eccles, 2002; Watt, 2004), and postsecondary studies (Barr et al., 2008; Kosovich et al., 2017; Robinson et al., 2019), it is important to investigate how to prevent motivational declines in STEM courses.

Teachers play an important role in students' motivation. Studies find that teachers' practices can have a positive influence on students' motivation outcomes both in secondary (Kebritchi et al., 2010; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016; Wentzel, 2009; Wentzel & Wigfield, 2007) and postsecondary (Canning et al., 2019; Hancock, 1996; Tanveer et al., 2012) school contexts. However, prior studies have largely not examined exactly how teachers can support students' motivation, particularly comparing face-to-face and online contexts in STEM courses. Therefore, little is known about how effective teachers' practices look within postsecondary STEM classroom settings.

More specifically, teachers might change their instructional strategies in different learning environments or over time (Brophy & Good, 1974; De Meyer et al., 2016; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016). Considering that the effectiveness of certain instructional strategies can be differential when they are applied to different learning environments (Smith et al., 2000), it is important to know how teachers interact with students across diverse learning settings. Moreover, differences in instructional practices, such as different learning settings, various in-class activities, can lead to different levels and quality of students' motivation (Pintrich, 2003). But limited literature can be found to show any such detailed differences in how instructors support students' motivation across diverse learning environments, particularly in STEM education. Hence, it is imperative to detect how STEM instructors support students' motivation and what specific strategies they tend to choose in different environments so as to prevent students' motivation from consistently declining due to the changes in instructional practices.

With the development of technology-enhanced education, multiple types of learning environments such as online learning environments and blended learning environments have introduced new challenges for STEM education (Yang et al., 2015). Based on previous studies (Roseth et al., 2011; Stark, 2019), students reported lower motivation when learning online compared to face-to-face learning. Due to the global pandemic, the major delivery method in university-level STEM education has been changed from in-person to online in recent semesters. Teachers tended to have less experience in motivating their students in online education (Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009). The sudden shift of the learning environments, together with other influencing factors such as COVID stress (Arslan & Allen, 2021) and socio-political events (Cao et al., 2020), exacerbated the challenges for both students and instructors. Given that students' motivation and in-class engagement in university-level STEM majors declined in online learning during the COVID time (Wester et al., 2021), it might be more difficult for STEM course instructors to support students' motivation in an online learning setting. Accounting for the decreasing tendency of student-reported motivation in STEM education and online learning environment in the realm of higher education (Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009; Robinson et al., 2019; Rosenzweig et al., 2019;), more in-class motivational support provided by instructors is needed. Therefore, there is a need to explore whether instructors have offered adaptive motivationally supportive instruction in class to tackle the negative impacts brought by the sudden changes of learning environments and social circumstances. Or, compared to the face-to-face classroom environment, instructors' in-class motivational support may have also experienced a decline in postsecondary STEM disciplines.

To sum up, in order to build a foundation of knowledge about instructors' in-class motivational support in both online and in-person learning environments, this study focused on capturing evidence of instructors' motivational support in STEM courses from both inperson and online delivery modes. Specifically, instructors' in-class motivational support via lecture video coding was used to examine the quantitative and qualitative differences in motivational support between the two learning environments. By analyzing the coding results, this research compared instructors' in-class motivational support in university-level STEM courses, intending to provide evidence needed for improving teaching practices in online and offline learning settings.

Literature Review

The purpose of this study is to compare instructors' in-class motivational support in different learning settings across online versus in-person learning environments. The literature review will cover the relevant theoretical frameworks, expectancy-value theory and self-determination theory, and their implications and related literature informing instructional designs for supporting students' academic motivation.

What is Instructor's Motivational Support: Theoretical Frameworks

Motivation research is the study of what energizes action and behaviors (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Associated with education, motivation refers to students' beliefs, values, goals, needs, desires, and willingness to succeed in the learning process (Bomia et al., 1997). Students' academic motivation consists of students' competence beliefs about themselves (can I do this) as well as values and goals (why do I want to do this) (Linnenbrink-Garcia et al., 2016). To be specific, "Can I do this?" means students' assessments of whether they are

capable of success on learning tasks. "Why do I want to do this?" refers to the reasons that motivate students in the specific learning tasks, such as goals, values, the willingness to succeed, and their identities. Students' answers to these two questions indicate their current academic motivation level, quality, and sources of motivation. Therefore, these two questions provide a lens through which instructors can know how to better support students' academic motivation through providing more competence-supportive and value-supportive instructions.

Classic motivation theories and prior studies have provided favorable evidence to indicate teaching strategies can be used to mitigate the decline of students' motivation in the classroom settings (Cheon & Reeve, 2015; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016; Su & Reeve, 2011). Classical motivation theories, including self-determination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2000) and situated expectancy-value theory (Eccles, 1983; Eccles & Wigfield, 2002; Eccles & Wigfield, 2020) have offered theoretical guidance for supporting students' motivation from different but associated perspectives.

Expectancy-Value Theory

Expectancy-value theory focuses on students' expectancy for success on a certain task and the perceived value obtained from the task. To be specific, expectancy refers to students' beliefs about how well they will do on future learning tasks (Eccles & Wigfield, 1995; Linnenbrink-Garcia & Patall, 2016). Subjective task value is defined as students' beliefs about the value of participating in learning tasks and the reasons that they are willing to join in those tasks. It can explain why students would like to engage or perform well in the learning activities (Brophy, 2008; Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). In terms of the model that Eccles et al. (1983, 2002, 2020) created, students' expectancy and perceived task value are assumed to be the most important, proximal processes that shape their motivational beliefs and have a great impact on their task persistence, choices, performance, and levels of engagement (Eccles & Wigfield., 2020; Schunk et al., 2014). Different types of task value including utility, interest, and attainment value work effectively to predict students' persistence and performance in learning activities (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002; Eccles & Wigfield., 2020). Therefore, subjective task value and students' expectancy together influence students' achievement-related choices and performance.

Research has indicated instructional design principles based on expectancy-value theory, such as providing opportunities for students to reflect on the relevance or value of the material to their lives, can influence students' perceived value and expectancy in learning (Bergin, 1999; Brophy, 2004; Linnenbrink-Garcia et al., 2016). For example, supporting students' task value via implementing utility value intervention had a positive influence on enhancing students' interest and performance in the classroom settings (Hulleman et al., 2010; Lazowski & Hulleman, 2016; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016; Schmidt., 2019). Many studies have indicated that value-supporting strategies such as personalized content or activities, attempting to link content to students' needs, authentic learning activities, and building learning on the students' existing learning skills can enhance their perceived value and appreciation (Frymier, 2002; Hoffmann, 2002; Hulleman & Harackiewicz, 2009; Pugh et al., 2018; Schmidt et al., 2019; Shaffer & Resnick, 1999).

As one particularly useful and scalable strategy, making relevance statements can help students personally value what they have learned and make connections to their future learning or career choices (Assor et al., 2002; Clegg & Kolodner, 2014; Schmidt et al., 2019). Making relevance statements is an instructional strategy in which the instructor highlights the meaning, applicability, or usefulness of course content beyond the instructional context (Schmidt et al., 2019). Schmidt and her colleagues detected that the more teachers made relevance statements during the natural course in science subjects, middle school students were more likely to regard the learning content as applicable outside the school (Schmidt et al., 2019). The same results were also revealed by "life-relevant science-learning programs"

5

conducted by Clegg and colleagues in helping middle-school learners to pursue their individually meaningful goals (Clegg et al., 2014; Clegg & Kolodner, 2014). These studies provided rather rare evidence from direct observational data to demonstrate the nature and effectiveness of relevance statements in university-level STEM courses.

Therefore, motivationally supportive strategies based on expectancy-value theory, especially support for task value, are expected to be effective. Instructors can make a difference in enhancing students' perceived task value in class when they use relevance statements in their teaching. Despite expectancy-value theory's insights into how to support students' motivation in class, most evidence of motivationally supportive strategies from an expectancy-value perspective is based on intervention work (Canning et al., 2018; Hulleman & Harackiewicz, 2009). For instance, the implementation of a utility-value intervention was found to be associated with higher academic performance and better persistence in both secondary and undergraduate schools' contexts (Canning et al., 2018; Hulleman & Harackiewicz, 2009; Hulleman et al., 2017; Rosenzweig et al., 2019; Soicher, 2020). Utility-value interventions typically involve asking students to write about the personal relevance and usefulness of the course material (Canning et al., 2018). At the end of the semester, students who previously perceived lower academic motivation and had poorer academic performance would have higher perceived motivation and learning outcomes by making connections of their personal relevance and the learning materials (Canning et al., 2018).

However, most of the studies that contained utility-value or relevance supportive strategies used an intervention design, rarely involving the teacher's in-class behaviors and speech (Canning et al., 2018; Hulleman & Harackiewicz, 2009). In other words, previous studies have largely not focused on instructors as important socializers in enhancing students' perceived value and learning outcomes, and observational studies which focused on how instructors support students' utility value are limited. Because observational data involving

6

teacher's behaviors and speech obtained directly from classroom observations provides detailed and practical evidence about how instructors taught within their classes, a literature gap needs to be filled in demonstrating how support for relevance works in real-world education settings.

Self-Determination Theory

In self-determination theory, Deci and Ryan (2000) have proposed three basic psychological needs: relatedness, autonomy, and competence. The need for autonomy refers to the need to self-regulate and self-organize, which means that you can control your own behaviors and goals to make them cohere without heteronomous control. For example, the autonomy-supportive situation means that you are free of options and have the opportunities to choose. And the need for relatedness means that you feel connected with others and experience caring and concerns for others. This kind of meaningful and connected relationship with others can make you feel supported (Lin, 2016). Competence beliefs refer to your confidence and feelings of effectiveness in doing certain tasks, which are relevant to the self-concepts of your abilities (Rvan & Deci, 2000). Similar to students' expectancies of success, students' competence beliefs also come from students' judgment of their abilities, perception of task demand, ideal self, and goals (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Wigfield & Eccles, 2002). Among those three, the needs for autonomy and competence are the most important in maintaining and enhancing students' motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000, 2020). The need for belongingness is a critical supplement to autonomy and competence support (Ryan & Deci, 2009). According to this theory, students' motivation can be supported by the satisfaction of these psychological needs (Linnenbrink-Garcia & Patall., 2015; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Wallace & Sung., 2016; Williams et al., 2016).

Self-determination theory states that any social context that positively impacts an individual's sense of autonomy, competence, and interpersonal relatedness can facilitate

7

students' motivation (Deci & Ryan, 1991; Wallace & Sung., 2016; Williams et al., 2016). Empirical findings suggested that students who received higher autonomy support from their instructors were more engaged (Reeve, 2006; Reeve et al., 2004; Turner et al., 2014) and more motivated in class (Patall et al., 2008; Tsai et al., 2008). For example, in STEM courses, results shown that students increased their interest with the help of autonomy-supportive lab supervisors and performed better than students under the instruction of controlling instructors (Black & Deci, 2000). Similar results appeared in several prior studies in students' courses, including chemistry, physics, medical biology, and so forth (Cheon & Reeve, 2015; Hagger et al., 2005; Jang et al., 2010; Reeve et al., 2008; Turner et al., 2014; Wiliam et al., 1997).

Further, empirical studies have demonstrated that autonomous motivation is associated with desirable outcomes, including better academic achievement, and also ample research has illustrated the benefits brought from supporting students' autonomy (Deci et al., 1989; Deci et al., 2001; Reeve et al., 2004; Roth et al., 2007). For instance, prior research in a large university-level introductory journalism course have indicated that autonomysupportive social contexts can predict positive learning outcomes via enhancing students' academic motivation and psychological need satisfaction (Filak & Sheldon, 2008). Reducing controlling teaching and adding autonomy support in the teaching process and instruction design, including providing more choices, accepting multiple interpretations, and caring about students' perspectives, it is an effective way to improve students' academic motivation (Ciani et al., 2010; Filak & Sheldon, 2008; Jang et al., 2010; Linnenbrink-Garcia et al., 2016).

Instructors' Enthusiasm in Motivational Support

Instructors' enthusiasm can be conceptualized as the enjoyment, excitement, and pleasure that instructors display during teaching (Frenzel et al., 2018). This kind of pleasure

can be captured and felt by students and has supportive associations with students' engagement in class (Gaspard & Lauermann, 2021; Kunter et al., 2008, 2011).

Previous studies have highlighted that instructors' enthusiasm positively influences students' learning motivation, interest, and belongingness in classroom settings (Hotaman & Yüksel-Sahin, 2010; König, 2021; Kunter et al., 2013). Also, instructors' enthusiasm and personable characteristics would affect students' interest and engagement in class (Godin et al., 2015). In STEM courses, teachers' enthusiasm effectively supports both secondary and post-secondary students' achievement goals and academic motivation and improves students' learning achievement (Hotaman & Yüksel-Sahin, 2010; Jungert et al., 2020; Wood, 1998). However, prior studies mentioned above used survey methods, relying on student reports, and were conducted only in face-to-face classroom settings in K-12 education. To better understand how this strategy can be implemented, it is worth investigating how STEM instructors display their enthusiasm in the online university learning environment.

To conclude, within the classroom settings, a high level of instructor's enthusiasm can predict students' learning and motivation for further learning in STEM education. In particular, instructors' enthusiasm is more vital during the global pandemic because the sudden change of the learning environment is likely to cause more dramatic declines in students' motivation (Wahab & Iskandar, 2020). Therefore, how instructors behave and show enthusiasm is also essential in online education.

Unfortunately, the literature capturing evidence of instructors' in-class enthusiasm in online educational settings is very limited, highlighting a need to fill the gap in knowledge about how instructors' enthusiasm is enacted and differs between the two kinds of classroom settings to better improve instructors' in-class motivational support in the online learning environment.

Academic Motivation in Online and In-person Classroom Setting

In traditional in-person learning environments, authentic interactions or contact between students and instructors, as well as among students themselves, are relatively easy to apply (Howard, 2015). In contrast, online learning, which can also be called computer-based learning and distance learning, refers to the type of learning happening in the Internet-based learning environments where students learn fully virtually (Adnan & Anwar, 2020; Fryer & Bovee, 2018; Yang et al., 2015). It is a prevalent learning mode at the university level, especially during the COVID-19 pandemic (Daniels et al., 2021; Hyslop, 2020). Many STEM courses designed for undergraduate students have to be conducted in online learning conditions under the COVID-19 crisis (Dhawan, 2020; Sarnita et al., 2021; Wester et al., 2021).

As previous studies mentioned, although there were several similarities in students' motivation between different modalities, current evidence suggested there were still some differences in students' motivation and how students perceived motivationally supportive instruction across online and in-person learning environments and course formats (Jones, 2010; Yang et al., 2015). For instance, students tended to perceive lower cost and fewer negative feelings when teachers utilized relevance statements during the middle of the semester in the in-person learning conditions, but the same consequence didn't appear in the online education setting (Marchand & Gutierrez, 2012). Without direct physical contact and interaction, students have reported losing their interest or motivation during online learning compared with face-to-face learning (Roper, 2007; Roseth et al., 2011; Stark, 2019). Additionally, students have indicated a higher need for autonomy support in online learning (Jones, 2010). Previous studies also delineated that the successful completion of online education largely depends on students' active engagement in the learning activities and increased autonomy (Herbert, 2006; Lee et al., 2015).

Within STEM subjects, lower academic performance has been reported in online mathematics classes compared to face-to-face classes, so it is critical for instructors to find a way to motivate students (Francis et al., 2019). In particular, during the COVID pandemic, students' motivation has experienced a decline, which might be affected by the emergency shift of the learning environment (Corpus et al., 2022; Wester et al., 2021). Prior studies have revealed that students' perceived motivation and their academic performance encountered a decrease due to the online learning environment (Roper, 2007; Roseth et al., 2011). However, the reasons that caused those declines have not been fully investigated yet.

In general, instructors play an essential role in supporting students' competence and value in online education (Fryer & Bovee, 2018). In particular, during the COVID-19 circumstances, teachers' teaching strategies are vital in supporting students' interest (Sutarto et al., 2020), learning engagement (Rapanta et al., 2020), as well as enhancing students' inclass academic motivation (Chiu et al., 2021). And with respect to online education in higher education, students also perceived teachers as an important factor in optimizing students' learning outcomes (Jones, 2010; Lim & Karol, 2002; Lim et al., 2008; Wallace, 2010). For example, results show that even though online classroom settings might influence students' academic motivation, students responded positively to instructors' motivational support offered in class (Jones, 2010). Additionally, students in online courses rated higher ratings for instructors' motivationally supportive behaviors like providing clear rationales than students in face-to-face classes (Lim et al., 2008). Prior studies also indicated that students can report higher motivation in online learning environments when their instructors can effectively support their motivation through useful in-class motivationally supportive strategies (Kumar et al., 2018; Vaccani et al., 2016). Because of that, students' academic motivation in the online learning environment can be supported by adequate and effective teacher support.

Therefore, instructors may actually be more supportive of students' autonomy and show more enthusiasm to maintain students' attention in online classes.

In summary, with the potential for differing student needs and differing teaching strategies, how exactly instructors use strategies in both settings respectively are essential to observe. However, there is a lack of studies comparing instructors' motivational support between online and in-person learning environments in university-level STEM courses by analyzing observational data. Additionally, within the limited articles discussing the comparisons (e.g., Roseth et al., 2011; Stark, 2019), those studies focused more on students' perceptions than instructors' perspectives and teaching practices. In particular, little is known about how instructors' instructional strategies might change under the transition of learning environments, even when the instructors themselves and the general format and content of the course remained the same. Therefore, this study will focus on evidence from classroom observations in order to assess whether there is a difference across two learning environments in instructors' directly-observed motivational support with the same instructors and general course's format.

Different learning environments can impact both the perceived motivation of students and instructors' in-class motivational support (Jones, 2010; Lee et al., 2009; Lim & Karol, 2002; Lim et al., 2008). Nevertheless, to my knowledge, there is no published mixed-method study that focuses on in-class evidence of instructors' motivational support in different learning settings. Moreover, current literature also lacks observational research to understand the nature and extent of motivationally supportive practices in natural classroom settings. Considering the previous studies, autonomy support strategies tend to be measured by students' or instructors' self-reported surveys (Black & Deci, 2000; Reeve et al., 2004). But the results of self-reported surveys might be influenced by instructors' and students' subjective factors, including teachers' teaching self-efficacy, their openness to applying educational theories into teaching, teachers' self-serving bias and students' halo effects (Hascher & Hagenauer, 2016; Lietaert et al., 2015; Remmers, 1934). Hence, collecting evidence from direct observational data is needed to describe instructors' motivationally supportive strategies based on self-determination theory.

How To Capture Instructor's Motivational Support: Coding Schemes

There are many different ways to measure instructors' motivational support behaviors and strategies in STEM courses. The most widely used approach to measure these varied forms of motivation is through questionnaires that ask students about whether it is motivationally supportive for them (Jang et al., 2010; Kulakow, 2020; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016; Yu & Singh, 2018). From the literature I gathered for this study, I found that most research utilized student-reported scales or experimental methods (e.g., Black & Deci, 2000; Patall et al., 2008); observational data are seldom used in measuring instructors' inclass motivational support, perhaps due to the difficulty of using these methods and the lack of well-established observational measurement tools. Using self-reported questionnaires to collect students' or instructors' perceptions of motivational support are all based on personal perspectives. Unlike the data obtained from students' or teachers' perspectives, observation data more objective and systematic. Directly observing instructors' natural teaching behaviors and speech in class can provide the ecologically valid perspectives to understand the differences between online and offline learning environments in instructors' motivational supports. In other words, observational data can have a better record on the aspects of behavioral and affective teachers' support through collecting what instructors' actual did in teaching practices (Frensley et al., 2020; Torres et al., 2017). The fidelity of the data can help other university-level STEM instructors by offering direct strategies that they can use in their teaching practices.

Based on a previous literature review examining theoretically-driven coding schemes for motivational teacher practices, I found that validity evidence was inconsistent or lacking (Zheng, Potola et al., 2021). Based on 10 coding schemes that met inclusion criteria, only four of them had available evidence of their effectiveness and applicability to diverse learning settings (Zheng, Potola, et al., 2021). In a follow-up study, even with minimal training, the most suitable coding schemes (Cheon et al., 2018; Robinson, 2019; Schmidt et al., 2019; Turner et al., 2014) of relevance, enthusiasm, and autonomy can achieve reasonably acceptable interrater reliability and alignment with students' survey reports (Potola et al., 2021). Hence, I selected these same coding schemes to capture observational data in instructors' in-class motivational support.

Most studies using coding schemes to measure motivational teaching strategies assessed only one type such as relevance or autonomy (Cheon et al., 2018; Schmidt et al., 2019). To my knowledge, no studies to date have measured relevance, autonomy support, and instructors' enthusiasm at the same time (Cheon et al., 2018; Schmidt et al., 2019). Focusing on those three constructs simultaneously can help us gain a holistic view of the quantitative and qualitative differences in instructors' motivational support between two learning environments. Given the combination of the aforementioned research, students are likely to show engaged behaviors (e.g., attendance and concentration) and engaged emotions (like enthusiasm, interest, and enjoyment) when they are intrinsically motivated and their needs are adequately satisfied (Deci et al., 1991; Eccles & Roeser, 2009). The effective teacher support including teachers' enthusiasm (Patrick et al., 2000), autonomy-supportive behaviors (Zee & Koomen, 2020), and increasing content and goal relevance (Albrecht & Karabenick, 2018; Frymier & Shulman, 1995) can work together as proximal classroom factors in supporting students in class.

Present Study

This study compared instructors' in-class motivational support across online and inperson university-level STEM courses in order to provide rich, detailed descriptions of inclass teaching practices that were associated with instructors' motivational support. Specifically, this study focused on differences and similarities in the amount and nature of the strategies that instructors used to support students' academic motivation across pre-pandemic in-person and during-pandemic online learning environments using classroom observational data. Toward that end, the proposed study addresses following research questions:

1. How did instructors support students' academic motivation in pre-pandemic inperson and pandemic online university-level STEM courses?

2. What similarities or differences can be observed in instructors' in-class motivational support across pandemic online and pre-pandemic in-person learning environments?

Grounded in self-determination theory and expectancy-value theory, autonomysupportive teaching, relevance statements, and teacher enthusiasm in class are effective in improving students' academic motivation. Previous research has indicated that instructors' autonomy-supportive and relevance-supportive teaching practices can be captured via indepth observational studies (Schmidt et al., 2019; Wallace & Sung, 2017) and findings from previous studies have provided a well-defined set of autonomy-supportive and relevancesupportive teaching practices (Jang et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2019; Skinner et al., 2009). Thus, I expected that I would be able to capture evidence that instructors used these strategies at least occasionally in both learning environments via in-depth observation of the data. Regarding the prior studies (Bowers & Kumar, 2015; Wang et al., 2019), students reported significantly lower scores in the learning climate and need satisfaction in the online learning environments and higher scores in in-person learning settings due to the relatively lower quality of teaching they perceived during online learning and lack of interactions between instructors and students in online courses. Moreover, the further psychological and physiological distance between students and instructors in online environments also influences the teaching quality and the course climate (Mandernach et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2015). Thus, I expected that, even the same instructors in the same course, instructors' overall motivational support in online STEM courses during pandemic and on-campus learning before pandemic might be varied.

The other key aim of this study is to investigate the differences and similarities in using certain motivationally supportive strategies across pandemic online and pre-pandemic face-to-face learning environments via classroom observation. In terms of the previous studies (Chen & Jang, 2010; Shroff & Vogel, 2009), students reported higher ratings on perceived autonomy in online classes compared to the traditional classroom settings, since online classes are typically more self-guided and don't require you to be adherent to a certain time or place. In this case, I surmised that instructors' autonomy support in online education settings would be observed more frequently than in face-to-face STEM classes. Due to the lack of social presence, real-time interaction, and synchronous communication between instructors and students, I further assumed that instructors' enthusiasm might encounter the biggest reduction due to the switch of learning environments. In addition, students preferred traditional face-to-face learning rather than online learning when they were required to utilize the domain-specific conceptual knowledge or skills in the application (Paechter et al., 2010; Paechter & Maier, 2010), so instructors might also add more real-world connections in the inperson learning environments compared with the online environments. Therefore, I hypothesized that there would be significant differences in the relevance statements and showing enthusiasm across two learning environments before and during the global pandemic.

Method

Sample and Setting

In order to compare the online and in-person learning environments, I used existing data collected from a broader project on students' experiences and motivation in large STEM courses. As part of the project, instructors shared their digital lecture recordings with the research team. Data was gathered during two separate years for one introductory chemistry course at a large university in Canada during Fall 2019, when instruction was conducted in person in a large lecture hall, and Fall 2020, when instruction was conducted online due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Each fall semester lasted for 13 weeks and the two female instructors provided all the video lecture recordings for use in this study. In both 2019 and 2020, Instructor A taught the first 8 weeks, and Instructor B was in charge of the final 5 weeks in this course. This allocation of teaching remained the same across both years.

Because this is a general and introductory chemistry course, the class population in the Fall 2019 semester was 604 undergraduate students from STEM-relevant majors. Among them, 91.2% of the students were in their first year, while 8.8% of them were not the freshman. The class size in Fall 2020 semester was 642 students, 91.1 % of them were firstyear undergraduate students, while 8.9% of them were not in their first year. According to the final grades that instructors provided, the average final grades in the Fall 2019 semester were 80.06, whereas the average final grades in the Fall 2020 semester were relatively higher at 91.84.

Data for this study consisted of the lecture recordings, which contained lecture slides on the screen along with instructors' voices. Any students' behaviors or student speech accidentally captured in lecture recordings was not coded during the coding process. For analysis, lecture recordings were divided into segments of approximately 10 minutes each, then matched across 2019 and 2020 by the topic and instructor (see Table 1). This resulted in a total of 173 video segments, 107 from Fall 2019 and 66 from Fall 2020.

In Fall 2019, face-to-face teaching was conducted within a large lecture hall with the capacity of 650 students. There were 33 lectures throughout the whole semester. Every lecture lasted for approximately one hour. Instructors typically briefly reviewed the content from the previous class and made some announcements in the first 10 minutes, and then started introducing new content. After the explanation of the new content, the instructors typically provided relevant examples and practice questions, allowing time for students to work together on examples and questions. In these contexts, instructors had physical interactions with students, such as walking around the class, and asking students to raise their hands. Students could interrupt instructors at any time when they had questions. In order to give all students opportunities to rewatch the lectures when they were needed, instructors recorded the lectures using an automated system provided by the university, with lecture videos automatically uploaded to the online course management platform after class.

In Fall 2020, teaching throughout the semester happened via Zoom. Both instructors and students had no opportunity to participate in in-person classroom activities within that semester. All the lectures were pre-recorded using Zoom recording functions. Instructors uploaded the lecture videos, also called concept videos, to the online course management platform for students to watch. Concept videos were each approximately 25 minutes long. These short concept videos replaced formal lectures, but students still had opportunities to attend short problem-solving tutorials synchronously via Zoom. Through the Zoom platform, they could interact with instructors synchronously during that session. There was no mandatory participation for the problem-solving tutorials, so students could also communicate with their instructors asynchronously via Zoom online course management system or emails. In the present study, I didn't include tutorial videos for two reasons: one is that we didn't have corresponding tutorial recordings in the Fall 2019 semester, and the other is that there were not sufficient numbers of tutorial video recordings to analyze.

Procedure

Video Segment Selection

In order to better achieve the research goals and constrain as many potential influencing factors as possible aside from the factors that this study explored, I only selected video lecture segments that represented parallel topics and instructors across the two semesters. In other words, lecture segments were included in the study when the combination of topic (i.e., Chapter 7: periodic trends) and instructor were the same across 2019 and 2020. Some of the lecture video recordings in Fall 2019 semester (n = 5 1-hour lectures) were lost due to technical reasons (such as no audio or slide view). A total of 66 10-minute video segments for Fall 2020 and 107 10-minute segments for Fall 2019 were retained for coding.

Training and Trial Coding

In this study, taking the previous results into consideration (Potola et al., 2021; Zheng, Potola, et al., 2021), the observational measures of relevance, enthusiasm, and autonomy were selected as those that were likely to achieve acceptable reliability and correspondence with students' perceptions in measuring instructors' motivational support.

Before formal coding, I trained a team of coders so that I could obtain baseline evidence of reliability and validity for the observational coding schemes. First, I conducted training and trial coding for a team of two graduate student coders, in addition to myself. All the coders were required to read the codebook and coding scheme carefully before the training. The coding examples, definitions, and coding items were clearly displayed in the coding scheme. During the 3-hour training sessions, the definitions and situations that could be coded as showing enthusiasm, supporting autonomy, and communicating relevance were well-defined in the training slides. Slides also showed the detailed explanations of each coding item, as well as the examples adapted from chemistry teaching practice which were selected from the recordings. And the examples that I used in the training sessions would not be included in the subsequent coding.

Next, I randomly selected six video segments for coding practice from among those segments that wouldn't be used in the formal coding. After the trial coding for the first two video segments, we met to discuss and refine our coding definitions and criteria for some of the sub-categories in rating the instructors' autonomy due to low to moderate inter-rater reliabilities in a previous study (Potola et al., 2021).

After the trial coding, I found that the inter-rater reliabilities between three coders (Kappa for the relevance statements) have reached substantial to perfect agreement ($\kappa = 0.83$). We achieved substantial agreement in observing instructors' enthusiasm, $\kappa = 0.67$. Because we had one coding sub-category which achieved just fair to moderate acceptable inter-rater reliabilities in rating autonomy support, we coded two more backup videos for autonomy-supportive rating scales. We had a further discussion to solve the conflicts. Finally, the inter-rater reliabilities for coding autonomy support were shown within perfect range (ICC = 0.921, *p* < .001, 95% confidence interval from .863 to .957). Following the establishment of reliability, I coded the rest of the video segments alone.

Qualitative Data Collection through Coding

Adapted from Schmidt et al (2019), Cheon et al (2018), and Robinson (2019), I built an adapted coding scheme to code the instructors' enthusiasm, and autonomy support during teaching. I will describe the instruments and procedures used to code for relevance, autonomy support, and enthusiasm one by one in the following paragraphs.

Coding for Relevance.

To capture the number and quality of instructors' relevance statements in chemistry courses, I used a coding scheme adapted from Schmidt et al. (2019). Relevance statements

occur when instructors make connections between learning materials and real-world situation, meaningful application, or value beyond the instructional context (Schmidt et al., 2019). This coding scheme involved counting how many relevance statements were made in every 10-minute segment, then classifying the domain (type) of each relevance statement for describing different dimensions of relevance.

In the present study, I coded the different domains of relevance statements from instructors in-class speech including linking chemistry learning with careers or jobs, future education, routine activities, health or safety, understanding or explaining natural phenomena, explaining the advances of chemistry, hobby or pastime, bridging to understand a concept in chemistry class, bridging to understand other STEM courses, and understanding or advancing social relationship in order to find which kinds of real-world connections are frequently supported by instructors in the chemistry classes from the lecture recordings for university-level chemistry courses.

Coding for Autonomy Support.

Support for autonomy is the second category of the coding scheme I used in this study. Instructors' autonomy support was measured using six items adapted from Cheon et al. (2018). The items included: takes the students perspectives, vitalizes inner motivational resources during instruction, provides explanatory rationales, uses non-pressuring, informational language, acknowledges and accepts negative affect, and displays patience. Because I didn't include any student behaviors or reactions in class, all codes were based on instructors' speech during teaching alone. In particular, coding for "acknowledges and accepts negative affect, but rather on instructors' verbal, proactive acknowledgements of negative affect as normative and expected.

For every 10-minute segment, raters scored instructors' autonomy support using a 7point Likert-type scale: 1 = never, not at all, 4 = occasionally, sometimes yes, sometimes no, and 7 = always, very much. Each rating of "4" is a moderate category, which means that instructors offered autonomy support occasionally throughout this segment. Additionally, as we discussed in the trial coding, we set the criteria as "1-2" autonomy supportive behaviors in the 10-minute segment aligns with a rating of 2-3, "3-4" autonomy supportive behaviors can be aligned with a rating of 4-5. And if we observed 5 or more than 5 times of autonomy supportive behaviors, we can give them a rating of 6-7.

Coding for Enthusiasm.

Coding for enthusiasm was adapted from Robinson's dissertation (2019). Similar to the relevance coding scheme, coding for enthusiasm consisted of a counting system to capture instructors' behaviors and statements. The indicators I measured for instructors' enthusiasm includes exclaiming, smiling while talking about the materials, verbally noting something is interesting or exciting, and gesturing broadly (Robinson, 2019). Because we didn't have the lecture recordings on instructors' views, I coded "gesturing broadly" category only when the instruction said aloud that they were gesturing. For example, *I will use my body to show you the structure of enantiomers*.

Building Dataset and Quantitative Data Analyses

Building datasets via data transformation is a critical part in this study. In this part, I directly utilized the counting or rating results from all 10-minute segments to build the SPSS dataset. Taking the comparison into consideration, every paired variable within the dataset has been named in a corresponding way across two learning environments, such as "online relevance" and "offline relevance." The preliminary analyses of the coding data gave me a descriptive overview of instructors' in-class motivational support in different learning

environments and indicated what kind of motivationally supportive strategies were frequently used by instructors in different scenarios.

Because of the various length of lecture recordings across two years, I obtained 107 10-minute video segments of Fall 2019 semester and 66 10-minute segments of Fall 2020 semester. The number of video segments in Fall 2019 is significantly larger than the number of video segments in Fall 2020. Therefore, according to the corresponding content of every section, I calculated the means of several segments' data in Fall 2019, matching topic and instructor, to align with the number of cases that appeared in Fall 2020. For example, in Chapter 8.6, the teaching content was drawing Lewis Structures. Due to the different lengths of lecture recording videos, the Fall 2019 semester had four 10-minute videos about this topic (i.e., A1, A2, A3, A4), but the Fall 2020 semester only had two (i.e., B1, B2). Therefore, I took the mean of the four 10-minute segments according to the teaching contents and made them into two 10-minute segments, such as taking the mean of A1 and A2 video segments to make a new A1 video segment to compare with the B1 and taking the average of A3 and A4 video segments to make new A2 video segment to compare with the B2. Table 1 demonstrates how the topics and numbers of videos are aligned across two years. After restructuring the dataset, I obtained 66 pairs of 10-minute video segments across two years and they were prepared for the future analyses. Thus, means can be interpreted as counts or ratings of motivational support per ten minutes of instruction, thus making datasets from 2019 and 2020 comparable to each other by reducing the possibility that observed differences are due to differing lengths of instructional videos.

Analytic Plan

In order to answer the research question, data from each semester were first analyzed independently, and then integrated together. Preliminary analyses started with conducting descriptive statistics using the dataset directly obtained from the coding results. Combined with the coding evidence, I gained an overview of instructors' motivational support separately in Fall 2019 and Fall 2020 semester.

To further investigate the differences and similarities across two learning environments, I used SPSS version 26 on the restructured data; I conducted a repeatedmeasures MANOVA to compare instructors' in–class motivational support involving support for relevance, support for autonomy, and showing enthusiasm across two semesters. Those analytic processes helped to determine whether there are some significant differences in the amount of motivational support across two time periods and delivery modes. Followed by the overall multivariate tests, using paired sample *t*-tests as post hoc tests, I also examined the specific differences of every coding item under the three main measures so that I could know what sub-categories should be responsible for causing the differences of instructors' motivational support across online and on-campus learning.

Results

Preliminary Analyses

Preliminary analyses were conducted to investigate differences obtained from coding results in all the variables. Descriptive statistics for the study variables appear in Table 2 and Table 3.

In the pre-pandemic face-to-face delivery mode, I observed 78 relevance statements or behaviors in the 107 10-minute segments, for an average of 0.73 relevance statements per 10-minute segment. According to Table 4, the most frequently used domains in relevance were connecting to routine activities and everyday life (32% of the overall relevance statements). For example, Instructor A used the example of sunglasses to explain a molecular structure in order to let students acknowledge the daily application of the principle of polarization of light. Instructors also often bridged previous content to understanding a new concept, unit, or experience in the current chemistry class, comprising 22% of total relevance statements. For instance, the instructor said "thinking about the content in Chapter 8" when explaining connections between prior chapters and the new content in Chapter 10. In contrast, instructors appeared to seldom use relevance statements connecting the content to other STEM learning materials (1% of relevance statements connected the content to other STEM learning materials), health and safety (5%), or hobbies and pastime (5%). No instances of job or career relevance statements (0%) or relevance statements related to advancing social relationships (0%) were observed in Fall 2019.

As for instructors' enthusiasm, I counted 61 instances of verbally mentioning the learning materials were interesting (e.g., "The materials here is super interesting." or "The transition model is very very interesting") in 2019, when instructors were physically present with students, with an average of 0.57 per 10-minute segment. For autonomy support, the mean of the composite autonomy support indicator (average of all individual autonomy support items) was fairly low on the 7-point scale (M = 1.69, SD = 0.37), indicating that overall autonomy-supportive teaching evidence was seldom captured. Five of the six autonomy-supportive strategies were rarely identified in the lecture recordings. Among them, instructors rarely mentioned or responded to students' negative emotions during the class (M = 1.12, SD = 0.41). In contrast, taking students' perspectives, including answering students' questions and responding to students' needs, appeared to have the highest mean (M = 3.67, SD = 1.64), indicating that instructors appeared to be more likely to support students' autonomy by caring students' perceptions. For example, in one video segment of Chapter 9, Instructor A immediately responded to a student request for resources for simulating models "You will have the link so that you can try the simulation, and that will help you to visualize the model."

For Fall 2020, I observed 83 relevance statements in total from instructors in the online pandemic delivery mode within 66 video segments, for an average of 1.26 relevance

statements per 10 minutes of instruction. Unlike the results from Fall 2019, in the online learning environment, instructors often connected the content to previous knowledge (28% of the relevance statements). But making connections between course content and routine events (21% of relevance statements in Fall 2020) was the second most common type of relevance statement among the ten in the coding scheme. For example, in the lecture video, the instructor used the statement of dancing postures to help students understand the structure of molecular geometry: "Just like you are dancing with your partner, you put one hand on his/her shoulder and the other hand on their waists."

In the pandemic online learning environment, instructors still demonstrated their enthusiasm by verbally noting the learning materials were interesting, using engaging tones of voice, and/or broadly gesturing during almost every 10-minute segment (M = 0.94, SD =1.29). However, the ratings of autonomy support appeared to be lower in 2020 compared to the lectures conducted 2019 (M = 1.53, SD = .34), meaning that even more limited evidence of autonomy-supportive teaching was found in the pandemic online teaching. The specific ways that instructors supported students' autonomy in class also appeared to differ according to descriptive means. For instance, the average score of taking students' perspectives in pandemic remote learning appeared to be lower than in pre-pandemic in-person learning environments (M = 2.02, SD = 0.93). Although the ratings appeared to be lower than in the on-campus context, taking students' perspective still appeared to be the method that instructors most frequently used in class. Additionally, providing explanatory rationales for students in remote delivery classes, such as offering reasons for the class procedures, were the second most frequently-used strategies that instructors chose to support students' in-class autonomy (M = 1.86, SD = 0.72).

From the preliminary analyses, Table 2 and Table 3 reveal that there is no evidence to show that instructors used relevance statements to build connections between chemistry

learning and students' career choices in both pandemic online and pre-pandemic in-person learning environments. Likewise, instructors did not utilize relevance statements that applied learning content to explain the advancement of social relationships across two learning conditions. Similarly, instructors seldom made connections between chemistry learning materials and other courses in STEM fields like mathematics or engineering. The results also indicated that in both teaching scenarios, there were no observed instances of instructors displaying patience for students and trying to respond to students' negative emotions towards the learning material. In addition, the frequency of supporting students' autonomy in class was all relatively low across two delivery ways ($M_{2019} = 1.53$, $M_{2020} = 0.94$).

Quantitative Analyses: Comparing 2019 and 2020

In order to test whether there were any statistically significant differences in instructors' in-class motivational support across the two learning environments, the quantitative data were analyzed using a repeated-measures MANOVA for all three measures. Following the omnibus repeated-measures MANOVA, post-hoc tests involved paired-sample *t*-tests to examine differences for each sub-category under instructors' relevance statements, enthusiasm, and support for autonomy.

The initial analyses of the quantitative data consisted of repeated-measures MANOVA across two years for the three motivationally supportive strategies in order to compare the amount of instructors' support for students' academic motivation in pandemic online and pre-pandemic in-person learning environments. The means and standard deviations for relevance statements, enthusiasm, and autonomy ratings are presented in Table 5. Looking at the means, it appeared that instructors tended to more frequently utilize relevance statements and show their enthusiasm in the pandemic online learning environment as compared to the pre-pandemic in-person learning conditions. Indeed, the repeated-measures MANOVA was significant, F(3,63) = 5.29, p = .003, partial $\eta^2 = .201$.
Respectively, three repeated-measures univariate tests revealed that relevance statements, F (1, 65) = 4.84, p = .031, partial η^2 = .069, autonomy support, F (1, 65) = 7.78, p = .007, partial η^2 = .107, and enthusiasm, F (1, 65) = 7.56, p = .008, partial η^2 = .104, were all significantly different across the two years. These results suggested that instructors supported students' academic motivation differently by using differing amounts of relevance statements, autonomy support, and enthusiasm across the two learning environments. Specifically, instructors made more relevance statements during teaching in the pandemic online learning environments than that in pre-pandemic in-person learning environments ($M_{2019} = 0.85$, $SD_{2019} = 1.17$, $M_{2020} = 1.26$, $SD_{2020} = 1.60$). Similarly, instructors were also more likely to demonstrate their enthusiasm in class during pandemic online learning in Fall 2020 semester compared to Fall 2019 semester ($M_{2019} = 0.54$, $SD_{2019} = 0.71$, $M_{2020} = 0.94$, $SD_{2020} = 1.29$). Conversely, statistical results showed that instructors' autonomy-supportive teaching obtained higher scores in pre-pandemic in-person learning environments than the online learning environments during pandemic ($M_{2019} = 1.69$, $SD_{2019} = 0.37$, $M_{2020} = 1.53$, $SD_{2020} = 0.34$).

Paired-samples *t*-tests which served as the post hoc tests were conducted to explore which detailed supporting strategies have the most salient differences between online and inperson learning environments under the three nuclear categories. For relevance statements, among ten sub-categories of instructors' relevance statements, there was only one significant difference: in bridging to understand a concept in current chemistry class across two semesters, t (65) = -2.03, p = .047. The results indicated that instructors were more likely to connect the current learning materials to prior knowledge in the course during 2020 online lectures. Significant differences were also detected in the specific sub-facets of autonomy support across remote and face-to-face teaching. Specifically, in the in-person learning environment, the rating scores were significantly higher for caring about students' hopes, needs, and questions, t (65) = 7.39, p < .001, indicating that instructors were more likely to take students' perspectives during offline schooling. In addition, there was a significant difference in providing explanatory rationales for procedures across two delivery modes, with t (65) = -2.68, p = .009. The result reveals that instructors tended to offer more explanations and identify the value and utility of a request for students in online learning environments.

The overall repeated-measures MANOVA featured a significant difference in instructors' motivationally supportive strategies between online and in-person learning environments. However, there are also some commonalities that existed under the three main categories.

For relevance statements, the results from post hoc tests shown that there were not significant differences in using relevance statements connecting current learning to future education, t(1) = -.17, p = .862, health or safety, t(1) = -1.03, p = .308, routine activities, t(1) = .13, p = .901, understanding natural phenomena, t(1) = -1.30, p = .199, advancing chemistry or society, t(1) = -1.136, p = .260, hobbies or pastimes, t(1) = -.47, p = .641, or connections to other STEM disciplines, t(1) = -1.00, p = .321. Meanwhile, results revealed that in both online and offline learning environments, there were no relevance statements pertaining to future career inspirations or making social connections.

For autonomy support, the paired samples *t*-tests assessed the differences across Fall 2019 and Fall 2020 semesters in six subcategories of the instructors' autonomy support rating systems. The rating scores of vitalizing inner motivational resources during instruction in online learning environments were not significantly different from those in face-to-face classrooms, t(1) = -1.40, p = .165. Similarly, the non-significant differences also occurred in using non-pressuring languages, t(1) = -1.30, p = .199, acknowledging negative affect, t(1) = -1.67, p = .099, and displaying patience in class, t(1) = .60, p = .554, across online and inperson learning environments. These results indicated some motivationally supportive

strategies only slightly differed or even remained the same across pre-pandemic in-person and pandemic online learning conditions.

Discussion

Teachers' in-class motivationally-supportive instructions and in-class motivating style have been recognized as essential components in supporting students' academic motivation in both online and in-person learning conditions (De Loof et al., 2021; Wladis et al., 2014). Theoretical and empirical evidence have demonstrated that students themselves also value instructors' motivational support in class (Hulleman et al., 2017; Kunter et al., 2008; Reeve et al., 2004). However, prior studies have indicated that teachers' in-class motivational support can be different in diverse teaching contexts (Brophy & Good, 1974; De Meyer et al., 2016; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016). Aiming at providing rich and detailed practical evidence pertaining to instructors' in-class motivational supportive instructions in university-level STEM disciplines, this study proposed two research questions in order to capture and compare instructors' in-class motivational support across pre-pandemic in-person learning environments and pandemic online learning environments.

In the present study, to answer those research questions, I designed a mixed-method investigation to map out how instructors supported students' academic motivation in university-level STEM courses across during-pandemic online and pre-pandemic in-person learning environments grounded on self-determination theory and expectancy-value theory (Eccles & Wigfield, 2020; Ryan & Deci, 2020). Capturing evidence from directly observed teaching practices is an important highlight of this study.

I acknowledge that students' perspectives are essential to understanding what strategies and instruction were effective in supporting their motivation, but direct observations of authentic teaching practices provide a critical complement to our understanding of instructors' in-class motivational support (Butz & Stupnisky, 2016; Parr et al., 2021; Schmidt et al., 2019; Smart, 2014). Furthermore, I captured instructors' motivational support from both in-person and online teaching modes rather than only one classroom setting, while the instructors and course content remained constant, so that we can have a concrete and comprehensive view about the differences and similarities of instructors' motivational support across two learning environments. Therefore, although the passage of time and the stressors of the pandemic likely also contributed to the observed differences, such differences in instructors' in-class motivational support revealed from the coding can also be at least partially attributed to the differences in learning environments.

To answer the research questions, analyses of the qualitative coding data have yielded an overview of instructors' in-class motivational support in both learning environments. Various aspects of differences and similarities in relevance, autonomy support, and enthusiasm measures and their implications are discussed in the following sections.

Different Learning Environments, Different Motivationally Supportive Strategies?

Prior studies indicated that teachers' teaching behaviors and instructional strategies can be varied in different learning environments (Brophy & Good, 1974; De Meyer et al., 2016; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016). The results of this study revealed a similar conclusion that there was a significant difference in some motivationally supportive strategies across pandemic online and pre-pandemic face-to-face learning environments. These results support a conclusion that even within the same teaching topics, instructors' motivationally supportive strategies would be varied and adjusted based on the learning environments. By examining the three measures respectively in the post hoc tests, salient differences also appeared within every category and even sub-categories of the measures.

In the pandemic online learning environments, instructors had limited interactions with students physically. This may at least partially explain why results showed that they tended to show more enthusiasm such as verbally mentioning that they were excited about the materials and trying to grasp students' attention. On the contrary, in the in-person learning environments, instructors may appear to have more opportunities to show non-verbal enthusiasm through gestures. For example, one instructor said that she would use her postures to show the chemistry models instead of just looking at the pictures shown on the slides in the classroom.

Similar to showing enthusiasm, different patterns of the types of relevance statements used across the two contexts suggested that the differing learning environments also appeared to shape different applications of motivationally supportive strategies. In this study, for example, the online lecture recordings were much shorter than the on-campus recordings. Instructors instead aimed to cover all the teaching contents in the pre-recorded concept videos. In this case, the limited length of the lecture videos in pandemic online learning environments may have prompted instructors to abridge some practical questions or learning activities that would highlight relevance connections. Therefore, as the results show in Table 4, in pandemic online teaching conditions, instructors were more likely to bridge the learning contents with previous knowledge in order to build a clear but brief scaffolding for the current materials rather than connecting the concepts more with daily routines and events. Perhaps they had to be more direct in their communication because the pre-recorded and asynchronous video could not let them informally assess their students' knowledge as they could in a longer and synchronous classroom environment. Additionally, perhaps the difference in frequency, such as how often the instructors used relevance could at least partially be explained by the need to allow time for students to ask questions and interact with the students in Fall 2019, where that wasn't needed in Fall 2020.

Based on the findings from my study, instructors tended to make more frequent relevance statements in pandemic online learning environments than in in-person learning environments. By examining the final grades across the Fall 2019 and the Fall 2020 semester, I found that students in Fall 2020 pandemic online learning environments achieved higher academic performance in their final grades than in the pre-pandemic in-person learning environments ($M_{2019} = 80.06$, $M_{2020} = 91.84$). This finding seemed to be aligned with prior studies (Watt & Richardson, 2013; Wentzel & Wigfield, 1998) which also indicated that students' learning and performance can be motivated by teachers' in-class instructional practices and their interpersonal relationships with students. Hence, this might be one of the reasons that can explain the average final grades in pandemic online learning environments were higher than in-person learning environments in Fall 2019 semester. However, although assessments were the same across 2019 and 2020 in this setting, it is also possible that grading standards were relaxed due to the pandemic, as has been observed in other studies (Aziz et al., 2022; Pogrebnikov et al., 2021).

As for supporting students' autonomy, in alignment with the previous studies (Johnson et al., 2015; Summers et al., 2005), the online learning environment reduced the teacher-student interactions which appeared to limit opportunities to show caring for students' needs compared with the in-person classroom. Therefore, the ratings of instructors' autonomy support in responding students' needs were relatively lower in online learning environments, which compared with the in-person learning environments ($M_{2019} = 3.67, M_{2020} = 2.02$). Conversely, instructors used different strategies to support students' in-class autonomy. As the results shown, in the online learning environments, instructors tended to obtain higher scores in providing clear rationales for procedures and identifying the importance of the content, compared to lectures conducted in the lecture hall ($M_{2019} = 1.49$, $M_{2020} = 1.86$).

Based on the literature review, results from some studies indicated that online learning appeared to be lower in teaching quality, lacking in teacher-student interaction, and prompting lower student satisfaction (Kelly et al., 2007; Summers et al., 2005; Young & Duncan, 2014). Thus, I also hypothesized that in-person classes would be more motivationally supportive than pandemic online learning environments. However, my findings were contrary to those hypotheses and conclusions. Instead, findings indicated that the online learning environment can also be quite motivationally supportive and obtain higher students' performance. Even though we have assumed there were some challenges for instructors to support students' motivation in online learning environments, adjusting the utilizations of various motivationally supportive strategies and making the maximum use of them appears to be possible. This finding also aligned with findings from a recent comparative study, which showed that online learning during the global pandemic tended to produce equivalent or better academic performance for students compared with the prepandemic in-person learning (Zheng, Bender, et al., 2021). Thus, both online and in-person learning environments may have effectively supported students' motivation, perhaps due to instructors' effective adaptation of their strategies. Future studies are needed to examine the effects of differential motivational supports across different learning environments.

For example, other studies also highlighted that the effect of online teaching is different between pre-pandemic online learning environments and during-pandemic online learning environments (Boardman et al., 2021; Feng et al., 2021). Due to the sudden outbreak of the global pandemic, universities were forced to switch their teaching activities from inperson classroom learning conditions to online learning via Zoom or other platforms (Boardman et al., 2021; Daniels et al., 2021). In other words, current during-pandemic online learning is a kind of emergency online learning. Instructors, students, and school administrators were all unlikely to be well-prepared for the emergency online education (Coman et al., 2020; Wisanti et al., 2021). In this case, Zoom or other online platforms have become a lifeline for students and teachers. This emergency and necessity might have different impacts on instructors' motivation as compared to the purposeful and planned use of online learning modes and tools. Findings from studies that focused on teachers' perspectives towards during-pandemic online teaching indicated that this kind of emergency education negatively affected their motivational job characteristics but improved their teaching abilities (Aras & Wulandari, 2021; Beardsley et al., 2021; Kulikowski et al., 2022). Therefore, it is important to be careful in applying the conclusions of this study to traditional and purposefully planned online teaching settings.

As for the implications gained from this study, I acknowledged that instructors had different preferences in supporting students' relevance and autonomy in difference delivery modes by calculating the usage frequency for every motivationally supportive strategy. Prior research indicated that it is quite important for instructors to implement diverse motivationally supportive strategies flexibly in different learning environments (Dhawan, 2020; Young & Duncan, 2014). Considering the current findings and previous implications, it is important that teachers and instructors identify and apply the most appropriate motivationally supportive strategies into their teaching practices in order to enhance in-class engagement and students' academic motivation. This is also a critical point I would like to point out for future teacher education and teacher professional development training.

Similar Motivationally Supportive Patterns Detected in 2019 and 2020

The results from repeated-measures MANOVA and three univariate tests for autonomy support, relevance statements, and instructors' enthusiasm revealed significant differences in the amounts of instructors' in-class motivation support. Nevertheless, some similarities were also observed. For example, both in online and in-person learning environments, taking students' perspectives was the most frequently used strategy in supporting students' autonomy in class. Additionally, in both learning environments, I observed no evidence that instructors connected learning materials to a job or career in their relevance statements. Apart from that, from the preliminary analysis, guest coders and I noticed that instructors used fairly analogous slides across two semesters, even though their interpretations of materials and class components differed due to the changes of delivery modes. For instance, in the pre-pandemic in-person learning environment, the instructor used the same slides to explain the molecule structure, and instructor B remarked verbally that she was using her body postures to help students visualize the model during teaching in the classroom. However, in online teaching, she did not use gestures, but introduced and explained it by using the image in the slides. Because of the similar slides they used across two years and similar teaching contents, the similarities of motivational support can be detected from the coding evidence and results of the study, especially in the aspect of relevance statements and supporting for autonomy.

Previous studies indicated that instructors' in-class motivational support including instructors' relevance statements (Durik et al. 2015; Schmidt et al., 2019), autonomy support (Cheon et al., 2019; Jang et al., 2010; Jang et al., 2016), and enthusiasm (Gaspard & Lauermann, 2021; Lazarides et al., 2018) were positively associated with students' academic motivation. In terms of the findings in this study, there was an average of 0.85 relevance statements and 0.54 instances of enthusiasm per 10-minute segments in offline STEM classrooms. The averages of both relevance statements and showing enthusiasm during inperson instruction were both lower than the averages in pandemic online learning for supporting relevance and autonomy. Thus, it's possible that STEM instructors, especially in the traditional face-to-face delivery modes, might feel that they teach in their comfort zones so that they might pay less attention to designing how to support students' motivation and grasp students' attentions during lecturing. This explanation would align with the implications from Smith et al. (2000) and Dell et al. (2008, 2010)'s article, which indicated that teachers were more likely to be well-prepared and used effective instructional methods in the online learning environments.

In addition, although the average rating of autonomy support in the in-person learning environment (M = 1.69) was significantly higher than in the online environment (M = 1.53), the rating of scores were still quite low on the scale. According to the 7-point Likert-type scale used to code for autonomy support, "1" means that nothing relevant to instructors' autonomy support appeared in the 10-minute video segment. Therefore, the average ratings less than "2" in both two learning environments indicated infrequent autonomy-supportive teaching in this STEM course. These findings may explain the average declines of students' academic motivation in STEM courses over time (Jacobs et al., 2002; Watt, 2004). On the other hand, it may be that only a few instances of autonomy-supportive teaching are sufficient for supporting students' motivation, particularly in online environments which are typically structured to provide students with a great deal of choice over when and how they engage with the course. Future research is needed to further investigate and even quantify that how many motivationally behaviors and statements in the one single 10-minute video segment or entire lecture are appropriate and effective in supporting students' academic motivation and enhancing classroom climate.

Secondly, some types of motivational support in other settings (e.g., Schmidt et al., 2019) were not observed here. In the lecture recordings from both Fall 2019 and Fall 2020, I observed no evidence of relevance statements that connected the learning materials into a job or future career choices. Similarly, there is also no evidence to show that instructors used the relevance statements to bridging the chemistry learning with understanding social relationships and advancement. In addition, I also found that there were few relevance statements that were associated with other STEM disciplines, health or safety, and hobby or pastime. Among them, previous empirical evidence indicates that relevance statements relevant to a job or career were quite essential in supporting students' academic motivation grounded on the expectancy-value perspectives (Assor et al., 2002; Schmidt et al., 2019).

Students may value chemistry learning more if they would like to pursue a chemistry or STEM career and they can see how the current lecture will help them with that goal; meanwhile, the expectations of pursuing a chemistry career would also enhance their intrinsic motivation (Durik et al., 2006; Eccles et al., 1998; Wang & Degol, 2013). Therefore, more motivationally supportive strategies in boosting relevance can be used by instructors in their daily teaching, and those aspects I mentioned above can be served as the potential areas that help them to expand their in-class motivationally-supportive toolkits. As an instructor, it might be especially beneficial to attach importance to every type of motivationally supportive method, balance the application of them, and try their best to integrate into the learning materials. With respect to future pre-service teacher programs and teachers' professional development, it also worth trying to add more training contents and workshops in motivationally-supportive aspects to let them become more and more familiar with how to support students' academic motivation by using different strategies in diverse learning conditions.

Additionally, I also explored some similarities in some of the sub-categories in autonomy measures. I captured almost no evidence of instructors' acknowledging and responding to students' negative emotions in class. This finding may be unsurprising as I did not have access to students' expressions of negative emotions, and in addition this is a very large introductory STEM course, so it might not be feasible for instructors to notice or attend to students' emotions in such a large-group setting. It might also be quite hard for students to share their negative emotions in front of the whole class, which give no chance for instructors to offer their emotional support during lecturing. However, prior studies (Becker., 2014; Lei et al., 2018) suggested that instructors' support of students' academic emotions can positively predict better learning outcomes and stronger teacher-student relationships. In addition, the ratings of displaying patience while teaching was lower than other measures in both learning environments. Therefore, grounded on self-determination theory and the effective interventions in need-supportive teaching, instructors could try to reduce students' psychological need frustration and build a closer sense of belongingness with their students in the big introductory STEM courses (Cheon et al., 2018; Knee, 2002; Ryan & Connell, 1989). Even though instructors might not be able to recognize and respond immediately to individual students' negative emotions during teaching, in particular in such sizeable introductory STEM courses, they could demonstrate that they anticipate and normalize feelings of anxiety about exams or the difficulty of the material, for example. Instructors could actively anticipate or ask about students' emotions and then respond to students in real time during schooling.

Potential Limitations, Innovations, and Future Directions

Reflecting on the whole study, capturing evidence directly from teaching practices is an important highlight of this study. I captured instructors' motivational support from both in-person and online teaching modes rather than only one classroom setting, while keeping the instructors and course contents constant, so that we can have a concrete and comprehensive view about the differences and similarities of instructors' motivational support across two learning environments at the same time under the same topic and instructors. Therefore, the differences in instructors' in-class motivational support revealed from the data might be most readily explained by the switch of learning environments, while also acknowledging the additional stressors and constraints of pandemic learning, aside from online instruction.

Apart from that, I noted four potential limitations in some respects of this study. These limitations can also be regarded as the starting points for future research to extend the study of instructors' motivational support and need-supportive teaching practices.

Firstly, in this study, I focused on capturing and evaluating instructors' in-class motivational support using the video data and observational coding results. However, students might perceive instructors' motivationally supportive strategies differently, even within the same situation (Ruzek et al., 2019; Schenke et al., 2017). I did not include any interviews or survey data from the perspectives of students in the same class. Even though some studies have already offered promising clues to show that supporting students' relevance, autonomy, and displaying enthusiasm were effective in supporting students' academic motivation, different groups of students (such as students from various levels of universities, genders, etc.) and diverse demographic backgrounds also might influence how they perceive motivational support from their instructors (Cheon & Reeve, 2015; Hotaman & Yüksel-Sahin, 2010; Kunter et al., 2013; Robinson & Lee, 2022; Rosenzweig & Wigfield, 2016). Additionally, it is important to note that all coders did not have chemistry backgrounds, and thus may have missed some subtleties of motivational support that would be noticed by those with more chemistry knowledge. Therefore, if possible, I recommend that further investigations of instructors' in-class motivationally supportive strategies examine the effectiveness of motivational support in both learning environments, including complementary self-report and observational data. Also, it may be fruitful to include coders with subject matter expertise in addition to those with expertise in motivation theory.

Second, during the process of video sample selection, I have designed the study to minimize other potential influencing factors to ensure that the delivery modes can be the main difference throughout the two years' video samples. However, practically speaking, online and face-to-face learning environments were not the only difference across the two data groups. All the lecture video recordings in the Fall 2019 semester were in the pre-COVID situation, while the Fall 2020 videos were during global pandemic. COVID-19 has introduced extra stresses and challenges to both students and instructors in maintaining their

teaching/learning passion and motivations (Daniels et al., 2021; Toto & Limone, 2021). Therefore, all the findings in this study can not only be interpreted as the differences caused by online and in-person delivery ways, but need to consider the potential influence addressed from the COVID situation and its side effects. For future directions, I suggest taking deeper investigations and analyses into distinguishing between the differences induced by the switch of learning environments or/and the appearance of the COVID situation.

Third, the enthusiasm measures in the present study were adapted from Robinson (2019)'s dissertation with the sub-categories including smiles while talking about materials, verbally noting something is interesting or exciting, exclaims, gesturing broadly, and so on. However, videos only included a slide-view on the screen to keep instructors' identities confidential. In this case, I faced some difficulties in capturing and counting instructors' enthusiasm demonstrations to their students, especially their facial expressions, gestures and body language, and even some of their behaviors. Hence, in the present study, the coding evidence from instructors' enthusiasm was recorded mainly by their statements. For example, they said this concept was very interesting, and the molecule model was quite cool. This kind of enthusiasm measures limited the coding of instructors' in-class passion, and thus I may have missed several incidences of enthusiasm as expressed through gestures. Therefore, I recommend using an advanced and more holistic coding scheme including gestures and facial expressions for instructors' enthusiasm in future research.

Last but not least, this is a mixed-method study, so I analyzed the same data using qualitative coding and quantitative data analyses. Due to the unequal numbers of 10-minute video segments across the two years, I restructured the data based on the corresponding topics across two years so that the number of cases can be the same across two settings (see Table 1). Grouping and using the average scores of several video segments according to their topics might have potential impacts and/or conflicts to the final results. For example, I

considered that the number of lecture videos in Fall 2019 was more than those in Fall 2020, so I had to take means between two to three video segments only for the data gathered from Fall 2019 to make the number of video segments aligned. Thus, this might potentially affect the distribution of the data collected from the in-person learning environments, since the standard deviations would differ from the original data. While the current study did not use the original data to investigate whether statistically significant differences existed across two learning conditions due to the unequal number of video segments, it would be critical for future studies to reexamine the results using the data directly from the observation.

Conclusion

Motivationally supportive social contexts, especially teachers' in-class motivationally supportive instructions, played an irreplaceable role in supporting students' in-class motivation (Filaka & Sheldon, 2008; Linnenbrink-Garcia et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2014). Indeed, the outbreak of the pandemic introduced additional challenges and uncertainty, including the emergency switch of the delivery methods and extra psychological stress among teachers and students, in-class motivational support from teachers still had a positive impact on improving students' academic motivation (Arslan & Allen, 2021; Camacho et al., 2021; Daniels et al., 2021; Naseer & Rafique, 2021). The purpose of this study aimed at comparing instructors' in-class motivational support across pre-pandemic in-person learning conditions and pandemic online learning conditions in the university-level STEM discipline in order to expand our understanding of how instructors supported students' academic motivation in those two environments and whether instructors' motivationally supportive behaviors and statements looked differently across online and in-person education.

Grounded in the situated expectancy-value theory (Eccles & Wigfield, 2020) and selfdetermination theory (Ryan & Deci, 2020), the present mixed-method study utilized both qualitative and quantitative methods to address the research objectives via comparing the coding evidence from lecture video recordings in Fall 2019 and Fall 2020 semester. Overall, findings from both qualitative and quantitative results revealed that instructors' in-class motivational support differed from pre-pandemic in-person learning environments and pandemic online learning environments in using relevance statements, providing autonomy-supportive instructions, and displaying their enthusiasm. Surprisingly, instructors tended to apply relevance statements and demonstrated their enthusiasm more in online learning environments than in in-person ones. But higher ratings of autonomy-supportive instructions appeared in the pre-pandemic classroom teaching. Given the differences and similarities between pre-pandemic in-person learning environments and pandemic online learning environments in undergraduate STEM disciplines, it is essential to provide STEM faculty with a holistic overview of how they supported students' academic motivation. Such rigorous descriptions might also encourage them to implement more targeted and effective in-class motivationally supportive instructions in both learning conditions in the near future.

References

- Adnan, M., & Anwar, K. (2020). Online learning amid the COVID-19 pandemic: Students' perspectives. *Education Resources Information Center (ERIC) Online Submission*, 2(1), 45-51. https://doi.org/10.33902/JPSP.2020261309
- Albrecht, J. R., & Karabenick, S. A. (2018). Relevance for learning and motivation in education. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 86(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2017.1380593</u>
- Aras, M., & Wulandari, O. (2021, August). Technology Disruption and Teacher's Motivation in Online Classes: Case Study XYZ School during COVID-19 Pandemic in Indonesia. In 2021 International Conference on Information Management and Technology (ICIMTech) (Vol. 1, pp. 292-297). doi: 10.1109/ICIMTech53080.2021.9534916.
- Arslan, G., & Allen, K. A. (2021). Exploring the association between coronavirus stress, meaning in life, psychological flexibility, and subjective well-being. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 1-12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2021.1876892
- Assor, A., Kaplan, H., & Roth, G. (2002). Choice is good, but relevance is excellent:
 Autonomy-enhancing and suppressing teacher behaviours predicting students'
 engagement in schoolwork. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 72(2), 261-278. http://dx.doi.org/10.1348/000709902158883
- Aziz, M. N. A., Bukhari, N., Yusoff, N. M., Ibrahim, Y., Karim, A. M. A., Awang, M. I., & Shapii, A. (2022). Investigating Undergraduates Grading Preferences During Remote Learning. *Journal of Positive School Psychology*, 6(8), 1057-1066.
- Barr, D. A., Gonzalez, M. E., & Wanat, S. F. (2008). The leaky pipeline: Factors associated with early decline in interest in premedical studies among underrepresented minority

undergraduate students. *Academic Medicine*, *83*(5), 503-511. https://doi.org/10.1097/acm.0b013e31816bda16

- Beardsley, M., Albó Laia, Aragón Pablo, & Hernández-Leo Davinia. (2021). Emergency education effects on teacher abilities and motivation to use digital technologies. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *52*(4), 1455–1477. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13101
- Becker, E. S., Goetz, T., Morger, V., & Ranellucci, J. (2014). The importance of teachers' emotions and instructional behavior for their students' emotions–An experience sampling analysis. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 43, 15-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2014.05.002
- Bergin, D. (1999). Influences on classroom interest. *Educational Psychologist, 34*, 87-98. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3402_2
- Black, A. E., & Deci, E. L. (2000). The effects of instructors' autonomy support and students' autonomous motivation on learning organic chemistry: A self-determination theory perspective. *Science Education*, 84(6), 740-756. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-</u> 237X(200011)84:6<740::AID-SCE4>3.0.CO;2-3
- Boardman, K. L., Vargas, S. A., Cotler, J. L., & Burshteyn, D. (2021). Effects of Emergency Online Learning during COVID-19 Pandemic on Student Performance and Connectedness. *Information Systems Education Journal*, 19(4), 23-36.
- Bomia, L., Beluzo, L., Demeester, D., Elander, K., Johnson, M., & Sheldon, B. (1997). The Impact of Teaching Strategies on Intrinsic Motivation. *Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC)*, 1-26.
- Bolliger, D. U., & Wasilik, O. (2009). Factors influencing faculty satisfaction with online teaching and learning in higher education. *Distance Education*, 30(1), 103-116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01587910902845949

- Bowers, J., & Kumar, P. (2015). Students' perceptions of teaching and social presence: A comparative analysis of face-to-face and online learning environments. *International Journal of Web-Based Learning and Teaching Technologies (IJWLTT)*, 10(1), 27-44.
- Butz, N. T., & Stupnisky, R. H. (2016). A mixed methods study of graduate students' selfdetermined motivation in synchronous hybrid learning environments. *The Internet* and Higher Education, 28, 85-95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2015.10.003
- Brophy, J. E., & Good, T. L. (1974). *Teacher-student relationships: Causes and consequences*. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Brophy, J. (1999). Toward a model of the value aspects of motivation in education: developing appreciation for. *Educational Psychologist*, 34(2), 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3402_1
- Brophy, J. (2004). Motivating students to learn. Routledge.
- Brophy, J. (2008). Developing students' appreciation for what is taught in school. *Educational Psychologist, 43*(3), 132-141. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00461520701756511
- Camacho, A., Correia, N., Zaccoletti, S., & Daniel, J. R. (2021). Anxiety and social support as predictors of student academic motivation during the COVID-19. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12, 1894. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.644338
- Canning, E. A., Harackiewicz, J. M., Priniski, S. J., Hecht, C. A., Tibbetts, Y., & Hyde, J. S. (2018). Improving performance and retention in introductory biology with a utilityvalue intervention. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *110*(6), 834. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000244
- Canning, E. A., Muenks, K., Green, D. J., & Murphy, M. C. (2019). STEM faculty who believes ability is fixed have larger racial achievement gaps and inspire less student

motivation in their classes. *Science Advances*, *5*(2), eaau4734. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau4734

- Cao, W., Fang, Z., Hou, G., Han, M., Xu, X., Dong, J., & Zheng, J. (2020). The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Research*, 287, 112934. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112934
- Chen, K. C., & Jang, S. J. (2010). Motivation in online learning: Testing a model of selfdetermination theory. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 26(4), 741-752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.01.011
- Cheon, S. H., & Reeve, J. (2015). A classroom-based intervention to help teachers decrease students' amotivation. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 40, 99-111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2014.06.004
- Cheon, S. H., Reeve, J., & Ntoumanis, N. (2018). A needs-supportive intervention to help PE teachers enhance students' prosocial behavior and diminish antisocial behavior.
 Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 35, 74-88.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.11.010
- Chiu, T. K., Lin, T. J., & Lonka, K. (2021). Motivating online learning: The challenges of COVID-19 and beyond. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 30(3), 187-190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-021-00566-w
- Ciani, K. D., Middleton, M. J., Summers, J. J., & Sheldon, K. M. (2010). Buffering against performance classroom goal structures: The importance of autonomy support and classroom community. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 35(1), 88-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2009.11.001
- Coman, C., Țîru Laurențiu Gabriel, Meseșan-Schmitz, L., Stanciu, C., & Bularca, M. C. (2020). Online teaching and learning in higher education during the coronavirus

pandemic: students' perspective. *Sustainability*, *12*(24), 10367–10367. https://doi.org/10.3390/su122410367

- Corpus, J. H., Robinson, K. A., & Liu, Z. (2022). Comparing college students' motivation trajectories before and during covid-19: a self-determination theory approach. *Frontiers in Education*, 7, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.848643
- Daniels, L. M., Goegan, L. D., & Parker, P. C. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 triggered changes to instruction and assessment on university students' self-reported motivation, engagement and perceptions. *Social Psychology of Education, 24*(1), 299–318. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-021-09612-3
- Deci, E. L., Connell, J. P., & Ryan, R. M. (1989). Self-determination in a work organization. Journal of Applied Psychology, 74(4), 580. https://doi.org/10.1037//0021-9010.74.4.580
- Deci, E. L., Koestner, R., & Ryan, R. M. (2001). Extrinsic rewards and intrinsic motivation in education: Reconsidered once again. *Review of Educational Research*, 71(1), 1-27. https://doi.org/10.3102%2F00346543071001001
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The" what" and" why" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 227-268. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_01
- Deci, E. L., Vallerand, R. J., Pelletier, L. G., & Ryan, R. M. (1991). Motivation and education: The self-determination perspective. *Educational Psychologist*, 26(3-4), 325-346. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2603&4_6
- Dell, C. A., Low, C., & Wilker, J. F. (2010). Comparing student achievement in online and face-to-face class formats. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 6(1), 30-42.
- Dell, C., Hobbs, S. F., & Miller, K. (2008). Effective online teacher preparation: Lessons learned. *Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, 4(4), 602-610.

- De Loof, H., Struyf, A., Boeve-de Pauw, J., & Van Petegem, P. (2021). Teachers' motivating style and students' motivation and engagement in STEM: The relationship between three key educational concepts. *Research in Science Education*, *51*(1), 109-127. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11165-019-9830-3
- De Meyer, J., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Aelterman, N., Van Petegem, S., & Haerens,
 L. (2016). Do students with different motives for physical education respond
 differently to autonomy-supportive and controlling teaching? *Psychology of Sport and Exercise, 22*, 72-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2015.06.001
- Dhawan, S. (2020). Online learning: A panacea in the time of COVID-19 crisis. Journal of Educational Technology Systems, 49(1), 5-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239520934018
- Downing, J. J., & Dyment, J. E. (2013). Teacher educators' readiness, preparation, and perceptions of preparing preservice teachers in a fully online environment: An exploratory study. *The Teacher Educator*, 48(2), 96-109. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.760023
- Durik, A. M., Shechter, O. G., Noh, M., Rozek, C. S., & Harackiewicz, J. M. (2015). What if I can't? Success expectancies moderate the effects of utility value information on situational interest and performance. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(1), 104-118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-014-9419-0
- Durik, A. M., Vida, M., & Eccles, J. S. (2006). Task values and ability beliefs as predictors of high school literacy choices: a developmental analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(2), 382. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.2.382
- Eccles, J. (1983). Expectancies, values and academic behaviors. In J. T. Spence(Ed.), Achievement and achievement motives: Psychological and sociological approaches (pp. 75-146). Freeman.

- Eccles, J. S., & Roeser, R. W. (2009). Schools, academic motivation, and stage-environment fit. In R. M. Lerner & L. Steinberg (Eds.), *Handbook of adolescent psychology: Individual bases of adolescent development* (pp. 404–434). John Wiley & Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470479193.adlpsy001013
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (1995). In the mind of the actor: The structure of adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21(3), 215-225. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167295213003
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review* of Psychology, 53(1), 109-132.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135153

Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2020). From expectancy-value theory to situated expectancy-value theory: A developmental, social cognitive, and sociocultural perspective on motivation. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *61*, 1-13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101859

- Feng, X., Ioan, N., & Li, Y. (2021). Comparison of the effect of online teaching during covid-19 and pre-pandemic traditional teaching in compulsory education. *The Journal* of Educational Research, 114(4), 307–316. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2021.1930986
- Filaka, V. F., & Sheldon, K. M. (2008). Teacher support, student motivation, student need satisfaction, and college teacher course evaluations: Testing a sequential path model. *Educational Psychology*, 28(6), 711-724. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410802337794
- Francis, M. K., Wormington, S. V., & Hulleman, C. (2019). The costs of online learning: Examining differences in motivation and academic outcomes in online and face-to-

face community college developmental mathematics courses. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02054

- Fredricks, J. A., & Eccles, J. S. (2002). Children's competence and value beliefs from childhood through adolescence: growth trajectories in two male-sex-typed domains. *Developmental Psychology*, 38(4), 519. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.38.4.519
- Freeman, B., Marginson, S., & Tytler, R. (2019). An international view of STEM education. In STEM Education 2.0 (pp. 350-363). Brill Sense. http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/9789004405400_019
- Frenzel, A. C., Becker-Kurz, B., Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., & Lüdtke, O. (2018). Emotion transmission in the classroom revisited: a reciprocal effects model of teacher and student enjoyment. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *110*(5), 628. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000228
- Fryer, L. K., & Bovee, H. N. (2018). Staying motivated to e-learn: Person-and variablecentred perspectives on the longitudinal risks and support. *Computers & Education*, 120, 227-240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.01.006
- Frymier, A. B., & Shulman, G. M. (1995). "What's in it for me?": Increasing content relevance to enhance students' motivation. *Communication Education*, 44(1), 40-50. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03634529509378996
- Gaspard, H., & Lauermann, F. (2021). Emotionally and motivationally supportive classrooms: A state-trait analysis of lesson-and classroom-specific variation in teacher-and student-reported teacher enthusiasm and student engagement. *Learning and Instruction*, 75, 101494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2021.101494
- Godin, E. A., Wormington, S. V., Perez, T., Barger, M. M., Snyder, K. E., Richman, L. S., ...& Linnenbrink-Garcia, L. (2015). A pharmacology-based enrichment program for

undergraduates promotes interest in science. *CBE—Life Sciences Education*, 14(4), ar40. https://doi.org/10.1187/cbe.15-02-0043

- Hagger, M. S., Chatzisarantis, N. L., Barkoukis, V., Wang, C. K. J., & Baranowski, J. (2005).
 Perceived autonomy support in physical education and leisure-time physical activity:
 a cross-cultural evaluation of the trans-contextual model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 97(3), 376. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.97.3.376
- Hancock, D. R. (1996). Enhancing faculty motivation to advise students: An application of expectancy theory. *National Academic Advising Association (NACADA) Journal*, 16(2), 11-15. https://doi.org/10.12930/0271-9517-16.2.11
- Hascher, T., & Hagenauer, G. (2016). Openness to theory and its importance for pre-service teachers' self-efficacy, emotions, and classroom behaviour in the teaching practicum. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 77, 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2016.02.003
- Herbert, M. (2006). Staying the course: A study in online student satisfaction and retention. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 9(4), 300-317.
- Hotaman, D., & Yüksel-Sahin, F. (2010). The effect of instructors' enthusiasm on university students' level of achievement motivation. *Egitim ve Bilim*, *35*(155), 89.
- Howard, J. R. (2015). Discussion in the college classroom: Getting your students engaged and participating in person and online. John Wiley & Sons.
- Hulleman, C. S., & Harackiewicz, J. M. (2009). Promoting interest and performance in high school science classes. *Science*, 326(5958), 1410-1412. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1177067
- Hulleman, C. S., Kosovich, J. J., Barron, K. E., & Daniel, D. B. (2017). Making connections:
 Replicating and extending the utility value intervention in the classroom. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *109*(3), 387. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000146

- Hyslop, K. (2020). What's University Going to Look Like This Fall? A look at UBC's choices and challenges could offer insights into post-secondary education in a prolonged pandemic. https://thetyee.ca/News/2020/06/22/University-Fall-Covid-Return/
- König, L. (2021). Podcasts in higher education: teacher enthusiasm increases students' excitement, interest, enjoyment, and learning motivation. *Educational Studies*, 47(5), 627-630. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2019.1706040
- Jacobs, J. E., Lanza, S., Osgood, D. W., Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Changes in children's self-competence and values: Gender and domain differences across grades one through twelve. *Child Development*, 73(2), 509-527. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00421
- Jang, H., Reeve, J., & Deci, E. L. (2010). Engaging students in learning activities: It is not autonomy support or structure but autonomy support and structure. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102(3), 588. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019682
- Johnson, R., Stewart, C., & Bachman, C. (2015). What drives students to complete online courses? What drives faculty to teach online? Validating a measure of motivation orientation in university students and faculty. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 23(4), 528-543. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2013.788037
- Jones, B. D. (2010). An examination of motivation model components in face-to-face and online instruction. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 8(3), 915–944. http://dx.doi.org/10.25115/ejrep.v8i22.1455
- Jungert, T., Levine, S., & Koestner, R. (2020). Examining how parent and teacher enthusiasm influences motivation and achievement in STEM. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 113(4), 275-282. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1806015

- Kebritchi, M., Hirumi, A., & Bai, H. (2010). The effects of modern mathematics computer games on mathematics achievement and class motivation. *Computers & Education*, 55(2), 427-443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.02.007
- Kelly, H. F., Ponton, M. K., & Rovai, A. P. (2007). A comparison of student evaluations of teaching between online and face-to-face courses. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *10*(2), 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2007.02.001
- Knee, R. T. (2002). Can service learning enhance student understanding of social work research?. *Journal of Teaching in Social work*, 22(1-2), 213-225. https://doi.org/10.1300/J067v22n01_14
- Kosovich, J. J., Flake, J. K., & Hulleman, C. S. (2017). Short-term motivation trajectories: A parallel process model of expectancy-value. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 49, 130-139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2017.01.004
- Kulakow, S. (2020). Academic self-concept and achievement motivation among adolescent students in different learning environments: Does competence-support matter?,
 Learning and Motivation, 70, 101632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lmot.2020.101632</u>
- Kulikowski, K., Przytuła, S., & Sułkowski, Ł. (2022). E-learning? never again! on the unintended consequences of covid-19 forced e-learning on academic teacher motivational job characteristics. *Higher Education Quarterly*, 76(1), 174–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/hequ.12314
- Kunter, M., Frenzel, A., Nagy, G., Baumert, J., & Pekrun, R. (2011). Teacher enthusiasm:
 Dimensionality and context specificity. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(4), 289-301. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2011.07.001
- Kunter, M., Klusmann, U., Baumert, J., Richter, D., Voss, T., & Hachfeld, A. (2013). Professional competence of teachers: effects on instructional quality and student

development. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 805. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0032583

- Kunter, M., Tsai, Y. M., Klusmann, U., Brunner, M., Krauss, S., & Baumert, J. (2008).
 Students' and mathematics teachers' perceptions of teacher enthusiasm and instruction. *Learning and Instruction*, *18*(5), 468-482.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2008.06.008
- Kumar, R., Zusho, A., & Bondie, R. (2018). Weaving cultural relevance and achievement motivation into inclusive classroom cultures. *Educational Psychologist*, 53(2), 78-96. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2018.1432361
- Lazarides, R., Fauth, B., Gaspard, H., & Göllner, R. (2021). Teacher self-efficacy and enthusiasm: Relations to changes in student-perceived teaching quality at the beginning of secondary education. *Learning and Instruction*, 73, 101435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2020.101435
- Lazarides, R., Gaspard, H., & Dicke, A. L. (2019). Dynamics of classroom motivation: Teacher enthusiasm and the development of math interest and teacher support. *Learning and Instruction, 60*, 126-137.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2018.01.012

Lee, E., Pate, J. A., & Cozart, D. (2015). Autonomy support for online students. *Tech Trends*, 59(4), 54-61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-015-0871-9

Lee, J. C. K., Yin, H., & Zhang, Z. (2009). Exploring the influence of the classroom environment on students' motivation and self-regulated learning in Hong Kong. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 18(2), 219-232. https://doi.org/10.3860/taper.v18i2.1324

- Lei, H., Cui, Y., & Chiu, M. M. (2018). The relationship between teacher support and students' academic emotions: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 2288. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.02288
- Lietaert, S., Roorda, D., Laevers, F., Verschueren, K., & De Fraine, B. (2015). The gender gap in student engagement: The role of teachers' autonomy support, structure, and involvement. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 85(4), 498-518. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12095
- Lim, J., & Karol, J. (2002). Student achievement, satisfaction and instructional delivery modes. In M. Simonson & M. Crawford (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of research on distance education in South Dakota* (pp. 77-85). Tresystems.
- Lim, J., Kim, M., Chen, S. S., & Ryder, C. E. (2008). An empirical investigation of student achievement and satisfaction in different learning environments. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 35(2), 113. http://dx.doi.org/10.1163/ej.9789004167872.i-234.32
- Lin, J. H. (2016). Need for relatedness: A self-determination approach to examining attachment styles, Facebook use, and psychological well-being. *Asian Journal of Communication, 26*(2), 153-173. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2015.1126749
- Linnenbrink-Garcia, L., & Patall, E. A. (2015). *Motivation*. In L. Corno & E. M. Anderman (Eds.), *Handbook of Educational Psychology* (3rd ed., pp. 91–103). Taylor and Francis.
- Linnenbrink-Garcia, L., Patall, E. A., & Pekrun, R. (2016). Adaptive motivation and emotion in education: Research and principles for instructional design. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 3(2), 228–236. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732216644450

- Madkins, T. C., & Morton, K. (2021). Disrupting Anti-Blackness with Young Learners in STEM: Strategies for Elementary Science and Mathematics Teacher Education.
 Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 21(2), 239-256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42330-021-00159-1
- Mandernach, B. J., Gonzales, R. M., & Garrett, A. L. (2006). An examination of online instructor presence via threaded discussion participation. *Journal of Online Learning* and Teaching, 2(4), 248-260.
- Marchand, G. C., & Gutierrez, A. P. (2012). The role of emotion in the learning process:
 Comparisons between online and face-to-face learning settings. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *15*(3), 150-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2011.10.001
- Marginson, S., Tytler, R., Freeman, B., & Roberts, K. (2013). STEM: country comparisons: international comparisons of science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) education (Ser. Report (Australian Council of Learned Academies), project 2). Australian Council of Learned Academies. Retrieved October 27, 2021 from http://hdl.handle.net/10536/DRO/DU:30059041.
- Naseer, S., & Rafique, S. (2021). Moderating role of teachers' academic support between students' satisfaction with online learning and academic motivation in undergraduate students during COVID-19. *Education Research International*, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/7345579
- Paechter, M., Maier, B., & Macher, D. (2010). Students' expectations of, and experiences in e-learning: Their relation to learning achievements and course satisfaction. *Computers* & *Education, 54*(1), 222-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.08.005
- Parr, A., Gladstone, J., Rosenzweig, E., & Wang, M. T. (2021). Why do I teach? A mixedmethods study of in-service teachers' motivations, autonomy-supportive instruction,

and emotions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 98, 103228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103228

Patall, E. A., Cooper, H., & Robinson, J. C. (2008). The effects of choice on intrinsic motivation and related outcomes: a meta-analysis of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(2), 270. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.270

Patrick, B. C., Hisley, J., & Kempler, T. (2000). "What's everybody so excited about?": The effects of teacher enthusiasm on student intrinsic motivation and vitality. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 68(3), 217-236.

https://doi.org/10.1080/00220970009600093

- Pintrich, P. R. (2003). A Motivational Science Perspective on the Role of Student Motivation in Learning and Teaching Contexts. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 95(4), 667– 686. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.95.4.667</u>
- Pogrebnikov, A. K., Shestakov, V. N., & Yakunin, Y. Y. (2021). Impact of grading system on student academic performance during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Perspektivy Nauki i Obrazovania*, 80-93.
- Potola, S., Zheng, Q., Lee, S. Y., Friedman, S., Christiaans, E., Rudakova, K., Deshpande,
 H., Horrocks, P., Choi, S. J., & Robinson, K. A. (August, 2021). *An Empirical Comparison of Methods for Observing Motivationally Supportive STEM Teaching Practices*. Poster presented at the biennial meeting of the European Association for Research on Learning and Instruction (EARLI).
- Rapanta, C., Botturi, L., Goodyear, P., Guàrdia, L., & Koole, M. (2020). Online university teaching during and after the Covid-19 crisis: Refocusing teacher presence and learning activity. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 2(3), 923-945. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00155-y

- Reeve, J., & Jang, H. (2006). What teachers say and do to support students' autonomy during a learning activity. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 209. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.209
- Reeve, J., Jang, H., Carrell, D., Jeon, S., & Barch, J. (2004). Enhancing students' engagement by increasing teachers' autonomy support. *Motivation and Emotion*, 28(2), 147-169. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:MOEM.0000032312.95499.6f
- Reeve, J., Ryan, R. M., Deci, E. L., & Jang, H. (2008). Understanding and promoting autonomous self-regulation: A self-determination theory perspective. *Motivation and self-regulated learning: Theory, Research, and Applications*, 223-244.
- Remmers, H. H. (1934). Reliability and halo effect of high school and college students' judgments of their teachers. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *18*(5), 619.
- Robinson, K. A. (2019). Supporting multiple paths to success: A field experiment examining a multifaceted, multilevel motivation intervention [Published doctoral dissertation].
 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 13860018)
- Robinson, K. A., & Lee, S. Y. (2022, April). A shifting motivational landscape: Gender differences in perceptions of motivational climate. Paper to be presented in symposium at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, CA
- Robinson, K. A., Lee, Y. K., Bovee, E. A., Perez, T., Walton, S. P., Briedis, D., & Linnenbrink-Garcia, L. (2019). Motivation in transition: Development and roles of expectancy, task values, and costs in early college engineering. *Journal of Educational Psychology, 111*(6), 1081. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000331
- Roper, A. R. (2007). How students develop online learning skills. *Educause Quarterly*, *30*(1), 62-65.

- Rosenzweig, E. Q., & Wigfield, A. (2016). STEM motivation interventions for adolescents: A promising start, but further to go. *Educational Psychologist*, *51*(2), 146-163. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2016.1154792
- Rosenzweig, E. Q., Hulleman, C. S., Barron, K. E., Kosovich, J. J., Priniski, S. J., & Wigfield, A. (2019). Promises and pitfalls of adapting utility value interventions for online math courses. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 87(2), 332-352. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2018.1496059
- Roseth, C. J., Saltarelli, A. J., & Glass, C. R. (2011). Effects of face-to-face and computermediated constructive controversy on social interdependence, motivation, and achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *103*(4), 804. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024213
- Roth, G., Assor, A., Kanat-Maymon, Y., & Kaplan, H. (2007). Autonomous motivation for teaching: how self-determined teaching may lead to self-determined learning. *Journal* of Educational Psychology, 99(4), 761. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.4.761
- Ruzek, E. A., & Schenke, K. (2019). The tenuous link between classroom perceptions and motivation: A within-person longitudinal study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *111*(5), 903. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000323
- Ryan, R.M., & Connell, J.P. (1989). Perceived locus of causality and internalisation:
 Examining reasons for acting in two domains. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57, 749–761. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.5.749
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68– 78. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.68

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivations: Classic definitions and new directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25(1), 54-67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1999.1020
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2020). Intrinsic and extrinsic motivation from a selfdetermination theory perspective: Definitions, theory, practices, and future directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *61*, 101860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101860
- Sarnita, F., Fitriani, A., Utama, J. A., & Suwarma, I. R. (2021). Application of STEM-based online learning to train creative skills of students in covid-19 pandemic periods.
 In *Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1806*(1), 012039. https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1806/1/012039
- Schmidt, J. A., Kafkas, S. S., Maier, K. S., Shumow, L., & Kackar-Cam, H. Z. (2019). Why are we learning this? Using mixed methods to understand teachers' relevance statements and how they shape middle school students' perceptions of science utility. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 57, 9-31.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2018.08.005

- Schenke, K., Ruzek, E., Lam, A. C., Karabenick, S. A., & Eccles, J. S. (2017). Heterogeneity of student perceptions of the classroom climate: A latent profile approach. *Learning Environments Research*, 20(3), 289-306. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-017-9235-z
- Schunk, D. H., Meece, J. R., & Pintrich, P. R. (2014). *Motivation in education: Theory, research, and application* (4th ed.). Pearson.
- Shroff, R. H., & Vogel, D. R. (2009). Assessing the factors deemed to support individual student intrinsic motivation in technology supported online and face-to-face discussions. Journal of Information Technology Education: Research, 8(1), 59-85. https://doi.org/10.28945/160

Skinner, E. A., Kindermann, T. A., Connell, J. P., & Wellborn, J. G. (2009). Engagement and disaffection as organizational constructs in the dynamics of motivational development. In K. R. Wenzel & A. Wigfield (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation at school* (pp. 223–245). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.

Smart, J. B. (2014). A mixed methods study of the relationship between student perceptions of teacher-student interactions and motivation in middle level science. *Research in Middle Level Education (RMLE) Online*, 38(4), 1-19. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2014.11462117

Smith, S. B., Smith, S. J., & Boone, R. (2000). Increasing access to teacher preparation: the effectiveness of traditional instructional methods in an online learning environment. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 15(2), 37–46.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/016264340001500204

- Soicher, R. N. (2020). Implementation Science in Teaching and Learning in Higher Education: A Mixed-Methods Study of the Utility Value Intervention in General Psychology Courses. [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Oregon State University.
- Soicher, R. N., & Becker-Blease, K. A. (2020). Utility value interventions: Why and how instructors should use them in college psychology courses. *Scholarship of Teaching* and Learning in Psychology. (20201022). https://doi.org/10.1037/stl0000240
- Summers, J. J., Waigandt, A., & Whittaker, T. A. (2005). A comparison of student achievement and satisfaction in an online versus a traditional face-to-face statistics class. *Innovative Higher Education*, 29(3), 233-250. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10755-005-1938-x
- Stark, E. (2019). Examining the Role of Motivation and Learning Strategies in Student Success in Online versus Face-to-Face Courses. Online Learning, 23(3), 234-251. http://dx.doi.org/10.24059/olj.v23i3.1556

- Su, Y. L., & Reeve, J. (2011). A meta-analysis of the effectiveness of intervention programs designed to support autonomy. *Educational Psychology Review*, 23(1), 159-188. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-010-9142-7
- Sutarto, S., Sari, D. P., & Fathurrochman, I. (2020). Teacher strategies in online learning to increase students' interest in learning during COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal Konseling dan Pendidikan*, 8(3), 129-137. https://doi.org/10.29210/147800
- Tsai, Y. M., Kunter, M., Lüdtke, O., Trautwein, U., & Ryan, R. M. (2008). What makes lessons interesting? The role of situational and individual factors in three school subjects. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*(2), 460. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.100.2.460
- Torres, A. C., Lopes, A., Valente, J. M., & Mouraz, A. (2017). What catches the eye in class observation? Observers' perspectives in a multidisciplinary peer observation of teaching program. *Teaching in Higher Education*, 22(7), 822-838. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2017.1301907
- Toto, G. A., & Limone, P. (2021). From resistance to digital technologies in the context of the reaction to distance learning in the school context during COVID-19. *Education Sciences*, 11(4), 163. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/educsci11040163
- Toto, G. A., & Limone, P. (2021). Motivation, stress and impact of online teaching on Italian teachers during COVID-19. *Computers*, 10(6), 75. https://doi.org/10.3390/computers10060075
- Troy Frensley, B., Stern, M. J., & Powell, R. B. (2020). Does student enthusiasm equal learning? The mismatch between observed and self-reported student engagement and environmental literacy outcomes in a residential setting. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 51(6), 449-461.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2020.1727404
- Turner, J. C., Christensen, A., Kackar-Cam, H. Z., Trucano, M., & Fulmer, S. M. (2014). Enhancing students' engagement: Report of a 3-year intervention with middle school teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 51(6), 1195–1226. http://dx.doi.org/10.3102/0002831214532515
- Vaccani, J. P., Javidnia, H., & Humphrey-Murto, S. (2016). The effectiveness of webcast compared to live lectures as a teaching tool in medical school. *Medical teacher*, 38(1), 59-63. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/0142159X.2014.970990
- Wahab, S., & Iskandar, M. (2020). Teacher's performance to maintain students' learning enthusiasm in the online learning condition. *Journal of English Language Teaching* and Literature (JELITA), 1(2), 34-44.
- Wall, K. (2019). Persistence and Representation of Women in STEM Programs. Insights on Canadian Society. *Statistics Canada*.
- Wallace, R. M. (2010). Online learning in higher education: A review of research on interactions among teachers and students. *Education, Communication & Information*, 3(2), 241-280. https://doi.org/10.1080/14636310303143
- Wallace, T. L., & Sung, H. C. (2016). Student perceptions of autonomy-supportive instructional interactions in the middle grades. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 85(3), 425–449. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2016.1182885
- Wang, C., Hsu, H. C. K., Bonem, E. M., Moss, J. D., Yu, S., Nelson, D. B., & Levesque-Bristol, C. (2019). Need satisfaction and need dissatisfaction: A comparative study of online and face-to-face learning contexts. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 95, 114-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.01.034
- Wang, M. T., & Degol, J. (2013). Motivational pathways to STEM career choices: Using expectancy-value perspective to understand individual and gender differences in

STEM fields. *Developmental Review*, *33*(4), 304-340. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2013.08.001

- Watt, H. M. (2004). Development of adolescents' self-perceptions, values, and task perceptions according to gender and domain in 7th-through 11th-grade Australian students. *Child Development*, 75(5), 1556-1574. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00757.x</u>
- Watt, H., & Richardson, P. (2013). Teacher motivation and student achievement outcomes. In
 J. Hattie & E. M. Anderman (Eds.), *International guide to student achievement* (pp. 271-273). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Wentzel, K. R. (2009). Students' relationships with teachers as motivational contexts. In K.
 R. Wenzel & A. Wigfield (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation at school* (pp. 301–322).
 Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.
- Wentzel, K. R., & Wigfield, A. (1998). Academic and social motivational influences on students' academic performance. *Educational Psychology Review*, 10(2), 155-175.
- Wentzel, K. R., & Wigfield, A. (2007). Motivational interventions that work: Themes and remaining issues. *Educational Psychologist*, 42(4), 261-271. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520701621103
- Wester, E. R., Walsh, L. L., Arango-Caro, S., & Callis-Duehl, K. L. (2021). Student Engagement Declines in STEM Undergraduates during COVID-19–Driven Remote Learning. *Journal of Microbiology & Biology Education*, 22(1), ev22i1-2385. https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.v22i1.2385
- Wigfield, A., & Eccles, J. S. (2002). The development of competence beliefs, expectancies for success, and achievement values from childhood through adolescence. *Development of Achievement Motivation*, 91-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012750053-9/50006-1

Wigfield, A., Eccles, J. S., Fredricks, J. A., Simpkins, S., Roeser, R. W., & Schiefele, U.
(2015). Development of achievement motivation and engagement. In M. E. Lamb &
R. M. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology and developmental science:* Socioemotional processes (pp. 657–700). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118963418.childpsy316

Williams, J. D., Wallace, T. L., & Sung, H. C. (2016). Providing choice in middle grade classrooms: An exploratory study of enactment variability and student reflection. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 36(4), 527-550.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431615570057

- Wisanti, R, A., EK, P., DA, R., & F, K. (2021). Science online learning during the covid-19 pandemic: difficulties and challenges, *1747*(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1747/1/012007
- Wladis, C., Hachey, A. C., & Conway, K. (2014). An investigation of course-level factors as predictors of online STEM course outcomes. *Computers & Education*, 77, 145-150. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2014.04.015
- Wood, A. M. (1998). The effects of teacher enthusiasm on student motivation, selective attention, and text memory. London: Faculty of Graduate Studies, University of Western Ontario.
- Yang, Y., Cho, Y. J., & Watson, A. (2015). Classroom motivational climate in online and face-to-face undergraduate courses: the interplay of gender and course format.
 International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education, 30(1), 1-15.
- Yu, R., & Singh, K. (2018). Teacher support, instructional practices, student motivation, and mathematics achievement in high school. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *111*(1), 81-94. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2016.1204260

- Young, S., & Duncan, H. E. (2014). Online and face-to-face teaching: How do student ratings differ. *MERLOT Journal of Online Learning and Teaching*, *10*(1), 70-79.
- Zee, M., & Koomen, H. (2020). Engaging children in the upper elementary grades: Unique contributions of teacher self-efficacy, autonomy support, and student-teacher relationships. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 34(4), 477-495. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2019.1701589</u>
- Zheng, M., Bender, D., & Lyon, C. (2021). Online learning during COVID-19 produced equivalent or better student course performance as compared with pre-pandemic: empirical evidence from a school-wide comparative study. *BMC Medical Education*, 21(1), 495–495. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-021-02909-z
- Zheng, Q., Potola, S., Lee, S. Y., Deshpande, H., Christiaans, E., Friedman, S., Rudakova,
 K., Horrocks, P., Choi, S. J., & Robinson, K. A. (June, 2021). *A critical investigation* of observational protocols for motivationally supportive instruction. Poster presented at the annual convention of the Canadian Psychological Association (CPA).

Appendix A: Tables

Table 1

Video Topics and Corresponding Video Segments across Two Years

Торіс	Instructor	2019 Week	2020 Week	2019 Clips	2020 Clips
6.1 Wave-like Properties of electromagnetic radiation/light	A	1	0 & 1	1-2	1
6.2 Blackbody Radiation and Photoelectric Effect	А	1	0 & 1	3-5	2
6.2 & 6.3 Bohr's Model & Atomic Model of 1-Electron Species	А	1	1	6	3
6.3 Bohr's Model & Atomic Model of 1-Electron Species	А	1	1	7	4
6.3 Bohr's Model & Atomic Model of 1-Electron Species	А	1	1	8	5
6.3 Bohr's Model & Atomic Model of 1-Electron Species	А	1	1	9	6
6.4 Wave, Wavelength & Particle nature of Matter and Light	А	1	2	10-13	7
6.5 Schrodinger Equation, Wave Function & Orbitals	А	2	2	14	8
6.5 Schrodinger Equation, Wave Function & Orbitals	А	2	2	15	9
6.5 Schrodinger Equation, Wave Function & Orbitals	А	2	2	16-17	10
6.6 Bohr's Model from H atom	А	2	2 & 3	18	11
7.1 Many Electron Atoms	А	2	3	19	12
7.1 Many Electron Atoms	А	2	3	20	13
7.1 Many Electron Atoms	А	2	3	21	14
7.2 The Periodic Table and Quantum Theory	А	2	3	22	15
7.2 The Periodic Table and Quantum Theory	А	2	3	23	16
7.2 The Periodic Table and Quantum Theory	А	2	3	24-25	17
7.3 Periodic Trends	А	3	4	26	18

7.3 Periodic Trends	А	3	4	27	19
7.3 Periodic Trends	А	3	4	28-29	20
7.4 Atomic Properties and Reactivities	А	3	4	30-31	21
7.4 Atomic Properties and Reactivities	А	3	4	32-33	22
7.4 Atomic Properties and Reactivities	А	3	4	34-35	23
8.5 Electronegativity & Drawing Lewis Structures	А	5	5	36	24
8.5 Electronegativity & Drawing Lewis Structures	А	5	5	37	25
8.5 Electronegativity & Drawing Lewis Structures	А	5	5	38-39	26
8.6 Drawing Lewis Structures	А	5	6	40-41	27
8.6 Drawing Lewis Structures	А	5	6	42-43	28
9.1 Molecular Geometry using VSEPR Theory (up to 4 electron groups)	А	5	6	44	29
9.1 Molecular Geometry using VSEPR Theory (up to 4 electron groups)	А	5	6	45	30
9.1 Molecular Geometry using VSEPR Theory (up to 4 electron groups)	А	5	6	46	31
9.1 Molecular Geometry using VSEPR Theory (up to 4 electron groups)	А	5	6	47-48	32
9.2 Molecular Geometry using VSEPR Theory (5-6 electron groups)	А	6	6	49	33
10.1 & 10.2 Valence Bond Theory (Hybridization): Formation of Covalent Bonds	А	6	7	50-51	34
10.1 & 10.2 Valence Bond Theory (Hybridization): Hybridization of Orbitals 1	А	6	7	52-54	35
10.1 & 10.2 Valence Bond Theory (Hybridization): Hybridization of Orbitals 1	А	7	7	55-57	36
10.1 & 10.2 Valence Bond Theory (Hybridization): Hybridization of Orbitals 1	А	7	7	8-60	37
10.1 & 10.2 Valence Bond Theory (Hybridization): Hybridization of Orbitals 2	А	7	7	61-63	38
10.3 Molecular Orbital Theory: Preparing MO Diagrams for Period 1	А	7	7	64-65	39
10.3 Molecular Orbital Theory: Preparing MO Diagrams for Period 1	А	7	7	66-67	40
10.3 Preparing MO Energy Diagrams for Simple Diatomic Molecule (Period 2)	А	8	8	68-69	41
10.3 Preparing MO Energy Diagrams for Simple Diatomic Molecule (Period 2)	А	8	8	70-71	42
10.3 Molecular Orbital Theory: Using MO Theory to Explain Resonance	А	8	8	72	43

COMPARING MOTIVATIONAL SUPPORT

10.3 Molecular Orbital Theory: Using MO Theory to Explain Resonance	А	8	8	73	44
10.4 Metallic Bonding and Physical Properties Using Band Theory Models	А	8	8	74	45
10.4 Metallic Bonding and Physical Properties Using Band Theory Models	А	8	8	75	46
11.3 Types of Intermolecular Forces	А	8	8	76	47
11.3 Types of Intermolecular Forces	А	8	8	77	48
11.3 Types of Intermolecular Forces	А	8	8	78-79	49
20.4 Stereochemistry and Isomers	В	9	10	80-81	50
20.4 Stereochemistry and Isomers	В	9	10	82-84	51
20.4 Stereochemistry and Isomers	В	9	10	85-87	52
21.1 Overview of Organic Reactions	В	10	11	88	53
21.1 Overview of Organic Reactions	В	10	11	89	54
21.2 Reaction Mechanisms	В	10	11	90-91	55
21.3& 21.4 Substitution and Elimination Reactions	В	10	11	92	56
21.3& 21.4 Substitution and Elimination Reactions	В	10	11	93	57
21.5 Additions to Alkenes	В	10	11	94-95	58
24.1 & 24.2 Properties of Transition Elements	В	11	12	96	59
24.1 & 24.2 Properties of Transition Elements	В	11	12	97-98	60
24.1 & 24.2 Properties of Transition Elements	В	11	12	99-100	61
24.3 Coordination Compounds	В	11	12	101	62
24.3 Coordination Compounds	В	11	12	102	63
24.3 Coordination Compounds	В	11	12	103-104	64
24.4 Bonding and Properties of Complexes	В	12	12	105	65
24.4 Bonding and Properties of Complexes	В	12	12	106-107	66

Chapter number shown in the table refers to the chapter in the text (i.e., Chapter 6.1 means Chapter 6 Section 1). The same text used in both Fall 2019 and Fall 2020 semester.

COMPARING MOTIVATIONAL SUPPORT

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics for Counting System (Relevance and Enthusiasm)

Measures		2019			2020	
(Per 10-minute Segment)	Mean	S.D.	Sum	Mean	S.D.	Sum
Overall Relevance	0.73	1.16	78.00	1.26	1.60	83.00
A job or career	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Future education	0.07	0.26	8.00	0.11	0.40	7.00
Health or safety	0.04	0.24	4.00	0.11	0.47	7.00
Routine activities/events	0.23	0.56	25.00	0.26	0.75	17.00
Understanding or explaining natural phenomena	0.10	0.34	11.00	0.18	0.52	12.00
Explaining, or solving problem OR, explaining advances in chemistry in general	0.07	0.30	8.00	0.15	0.27	10.00
Hobby or pastime	0.04	0.19	4.00	0.06	0.24	4.00
Bridge to understanding a concept, unit or experience in current chemistry class	0.16	0.42	17.00	0.35	0.62	23.00
Bridge to understanding in another STEM class	0.01	0.10	1.00	0.03	0.17	2.00
Useful for understanding or advancing social relationships	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Overall Enthusiasm	0.57	0.85	61.00	0.94	1.29	62.00

Table 3

Measures		2019)		2020	
(Per 10-minute Segment)	Mean	S.D.	Range of Scores	Mean	S.D.	Range of Scores
Average Score of Autonomy	1.69	0.37	1.83-2.83	1.53	0.34	1.67-2.67
Takes the Students'	3.67	1.64	1.00-7.00	2.02	0.93	1.00-4.00
Perspective						
Vitalizes Inner Motivational	1.26	0.47	1.00-3.00	1.35	0.54	1.00-3.00
Resources during Instruction						
Provides Explanatory	1.49	0.73	1.00-5.00	1.86	0.72	1.00-4.00
Rationales						
Uses Non- Pressuring,	1.34	0.60	1.00-4.00	1.45	0.66	1.00-4.00
Informational Language						
Acknowledges and Accepts	1.12	0.41	1.00-4.00	1.30	0.68	1.00-4.00
Negative Affect						
Displays Patience	1.25	0.50	1.00-3.00	1.20	0.47	1.00-3.00

Preliminary Descriptive Statistics for Rating System (Autonomy)

Table 4

Summaries of Every Percentages of Relevance Statement Strategies

Relevance Statements Measures (Per 10-minute Segment)	Percentages of Using This Type of Relevance Statements in 2019	Percentages of Using This Type of Relevance Statements in 2020
A job or career	0%	0%
Future education	10%	8%
Health or safety	5%	8%
Routine activities/events	32%	21%
Understanding or explaining natural phenomena	14%	15%
Explaining, or solving problem OR, explaining advances in chemistry in general	10%	12%
Hobby or pastime	5%	5%
Bridge to understanding a concept, unit or experience in current chemistry class	20%	28%
Bridge to understanding in another STEM class	1%	2%
Useful for understanding or advancing social relationships	0%	0%

COMPARING MOTIVATIONAL SUPPORT

Table 5

Descriptive Statistics for Repeated-Measures MANOVA	Descriptive	<i>Statistics</i>	for	<i>Repeated-Measures</i>	MANOVA
---	-------------	-------------------	-----	--------------------------	--------

Measures		
(Per 10-minute segment)	Mean	S. D.
Relevance Statements in 2019	0.85	1.17
Relevance Statements in 2020	1.26	1.60
Autonomy Support in 2019	1.69	0.37
Autonomy Support in 2020	1.53	0.34
Showing Enthusiasm in 2019	0.54	0.71
Showing Enthusiasm in 2020	0.94	1.29

Appendix B: Coding Schemes

The Coding Scheme for Comparing Instructors' In-class Motivational Support across Online and In-Person STEM Learning Environments

Fall 2019 CHEM110 Sept. 26th 0:00 - 10:00

Support for Relevance

Definition: Relevance is a kind of instructional strategy which the instructor used in class in order to highlight the meaning, applicability or usefulness of course content beyond the instructional context

Example	1	1	1		
Total Number of Relevance Statement					

Instructor connects course material (or asks students to connect course material) to a real-world situation, jobs/careers, or personal example.

Domain of Relevance: Connection is made between chemistry and:

A job or career				
Future education in chemistry (college majors,				
graduate school etc.)				
Health/safety (physical or mental)				
Routine activities/events (eating, driving etc.)				
Understanding or explaining natural phenomenon				
Explaining, or solving problem that is relevant to a				
specific current event, news, or historical event				
(includes global warming/environmental issues).				
OR, explaining advances in chemistry in general;				
emphasizing usefulness for progressing as a society				
Hobby or pastime (e.g., sports)				
Bridge to understanding a concept, unit or				
experience in current science class				
Bridge to understanding in another STEM class				
(e.g., math, computer)				
Useful for understanding or advancing social				
relationships (e.g., cooperation, conflict,				
competition)				
Notes:				
	i			

Instructor's Enthusiasm

Definition: Instructor expresses enthusiasm for the material to students in class

Example				

Instructor expresses enthusiasm for the material (e.g., exclaims, smiles while talking about material, verbally notes something is interesting or exciting, gestures broadly)				
Notes:				

The Coding Scheme for Comparing Instructors' In-class Motivational Support across Online and In-Person STEM Learning Environments

Fall 2019 CHEM110 Sept. 26th 0:00 - 10:00

Support for Autonomy

Definition: Support for autonomy refers to nurturing sources of intrinsic motivation, relying on non-controlling informational language and acknowledging students' perspectives and feelings.

Categories	Never, not at all		Occasionally, sometimes yes, sometimes no			Always, Score very much			Instructor' Actions or Statements/ Coder's Notes
Takes the StudentsPerspective- Invites, Asks for,Welcomes, andIncorporates Students'Input- Is Aware ofStudents' Needs,Wants, Goals,Priorities, Preferences,and Emotions	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Vitalizes Inner Motivational Resources during Instruction - Vitalizes and Supports Students' Autonomy, Competence, Relatedness - Provides Interesting Learning Activities - Frames Learning Activities with Students' Intrinsic Goals	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		

Provides Explanatory Rationales for Requests, Rules, Procedures, and Uninteresting Activities - Explains Why; Says, "Because", "The reason in" - Identifies the Value, Importance, Benefit, Use, Utility of a Request	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Uses Non- Pressuring, Informational Language - Flexible, Open- minded, Responsive Communication - Provides choices, options - Verbally and Nonverbally says. "You may.", "You might"	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Acknowledges and Accepts Negative Affect - Students' Negative Affect ("Okay"; "Yes") - Accepts Complaints as Reasonable, as Valid	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Displays Patience - Calmly Waits for Signals of Students' Initiative, Input, Willingness - Allows Students to Work at their Own Pace, in their Own Way	1	2	3	4	5	6	7		